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needed to permanently reduce our
costs, return to profitability, improve
cash flow and position the company
for long-term growth.

In a difficult year, we took the actions

Wayne M. Fortun
President and Chief Executive Officer

John A. Ingleman
Senior Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer

Fellow shareholders: |
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Fiscal 2007 was a difficult year for our company. While our shipments
of suspension assemblies increased seven percent aver the prior year,
the increase was below our expectations primarily due to loss of markat
sharg in the mature desktop segment of the disk drive market. This
resulted in underutilization of our manufacturing capacity, reducing our
abifity to absorb fixed costs and offset strategic investments in our long-
term growth. As a result of these factors, our profitability alse was below
our expectations. In response, we took action to germanently reduce cur
costs, return to profitability and improve cash flow. We are confident
these actions made us stronger and will position us for improved per-
formance and cash generation.

While we are disappointed with our 2007 financial results, we are
pleased with the progress made by our Disk Drive Components Division
in advancing our technelogy, improving our quality and increasing our
market share in the teghnically demanding mobile and enterprise seg-
ments of the disk drive market. We are also pleased with the progress
our BioMeasurement Division made in successfully launching the
InSpectra™ St0, Tissue Oxygenation Monitor and are encouraged by
the reception we are getting in the trauma market.

Disk Drive Gomponents Division:
Positioning for Long-Term Profitable Growth

Consolidation continued to reshape the landscape for component sup-
pliers to the disk drive industry during 2007. During the year:

» TDK became the last remaining independent supplier of recording
heads by acquiring the recording head business of Alps Electric Co.

2007 annual report 01 AT,




Disk Drive Storage Shipments Disk Drive Unit Shipments
In millicns of terabytes n millions
g o 8 2
g el
] o
2
]
-4
$/@/~ v QYYD

Calerdar Year
Souwrce: DG "WW Hard Disk Drive 2007-2011
Forecast Lipoate”, November 2007

Calendar Year
Source: 10C “WW Hard Disk Orive 2007-2011
Forecast Update”, November 2007

Research &

Development Expenses
As a percent of net sales

Year End Employment

3%

*» Western Digital, a leading disk drive maker, continued to vertically
integrate by acquiring Komag, & leading media (disk} supplier.

* TDK also announced plans to acquire one of our competitors,
Magnecomp Precisicn Technology.

Market dynamics have been and will continue to be the catalyst for struc-
tural changes in the disk drive industry and its supply ¢hain. Throughout
the history of consolidation in the disk drive industry, our adherence to
the key attributes of our culture has been critical to sustaining our long-
standing position as the industry's leading supplier of suspension assem-
blies. These attributes include basing critical decisions on facts and
fundamentals, focusing relentlessly on continuous improvement and
translating customers' requirements into innovative praducts.

Additionally, we are the industry's only vertically integrated supplier of
suspension assemblies. We believe that ours is the best model for
addressing the industry's structural changes and competitive pressures
and for leveraging the technology and capital investments required to
sustain long-term leadership, We realize economies of scale by supply-
ing aff major disk drive manufacturers, and the resulting advantages
support our ability to be the industry leader.

In 2007, our core cultural strengths and industry leadership manifested
themselves in several important accomplishments, inctuding market
share gains in the technically demanding mobile and enterprise market
segments, further advances in capabilities that are required by the
increasing complaxity of suspension assemblies, and cost reductions
to position us for impraved financial performance.

AT D2 Hutchinson Technology

We increased our market share of suspension assemblies for the rapidly
growing mobile segment and further broadened our market share lead
in the enterprise segment by helping our customers achieve fast time
to market and by delivering performance-enhancing features that are
valuable in these applications. Despite a more difficult production mix,
we also improved upon our industry-leading quality, as well as our yields
and productivity.

Next-generation suspension assemblies must deliver increased
mechanical control and accommeodate still finer elecirical conducters
and further miniaturization of performance-enhancing features. Our
TSA+ suspension assemblies meet these requirements by using addi-
tive processes to build up conductors and features at lavels of preci-
sion finer than those that can be achieved with subtractive processes.
In 2007, we began working with our customers on development of TSA+
suspensiqns for their next-generation disk drive programs. We also
completed installation of a volume TSA+ production line and began
internal qualification.

We expect the transition to TSA+ suspensions 1o take place aver the
next five to seven years, with the pace of the transition determined pri-
marily by the pace at which disk drive makers introduce and ramp pro-
duction of pregrams reguiring additive circuits. As a result, TSA+
suspension assemblies will likely be a small portion of our 2008 volume.

To better align our cost structure with demand, we took actions to
permanently reduce overall operating costs, incluging reducing our
workforce by about 500 employees. We expect these actions to reduce




Our TSA+ process will
produce flexure components
for next-generation suspen-
sion assemblies, sustaining
our position as the only
vertically integrated supplier
of suspension assemblies.

our operating costs by approximately
$35 millior on an annualized basis. We
began to realize the benefit of these actions in

our fiscal 2007 fourth quarter, during which we
retuned to profitability,

Looking ahead, the proliferation of digital content will continue
to stoke demand for digital storage. Storage industry analysts cur-
rently expect worldwide shipments of disk drives to increase by at least
10 percent in 2008 compared with 2007, and we expect that the growth
in disk drive shipments will continue to create growth in demand for
suspensicn assemblies,

As the only vertically integrated supplier of suspension assemblies far
disk drives, we are better positioned than others to deliver the rapid
prototyping, speed to volume, high level of quality and lowest overall
costs that disk drive makers reguire for their current and future products.
In 2008, we will continue to improve quality, reduce costs, coliaborate
with customers to design our TSA+ suspension assemblies into next-
generation disk drive programs ang prepare our aperations for higher
volumes of TSA+ suspensions.

BioMeasurement Division:
Establishing a New Standard for Measuring Tissue Perfusion

In 2007, we successfully launched our medical device, the InSpegtra™
St0, Tissue Oxygenation Monitor. Our StQ, Trauma Study, published in
the January 2007 Journal of Trauma, confirmed the clinical utility of
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St0, monitoring in trauma medicine and set a solid foundation for our
product launch, By year end, we had completed sales to 20 hospitals
in both the United States and Europe.

Our noninvasive device provides a continuous, real-time measurement
of tissue oxygen saturation (St0,), which is an indicator of perfusion sta-
tus. By helping clinicians instantly detect changes in a patient’s perfu-
stan status, the InSpectra™ St0, System enables clinicians to make
better treatment decisions.

Entering fiscal 2008, more than 50 evaluations of the InSpectra™ St0,
System are in process. These evaluations enable prospective customers
to see how the product perfarms in an actual frauma situation and expe-
rience the clinical value of measuring St0,. Based on our experience
to date, we expect a high percentage of customer evaluations will ulti-
mately result in sales. This will increase the installed base of monitors,
which will generate future InSpectra™ St0, Sensor sales.

In 2008, we are particularly focused on establishing the InSpectra™
510, System as the standard of care for measuring tissue perfusion at

2007 annual report 03 ST



In 2007, we successfully
launched our medical device,
the InSpectra™ St0, Tissue
Oxygenation Monitor.

the most influential hospitals in both the United States and Europe.
At the same time, we also intend to increase the installed base for the
system by placing monitors at other hospitals.

Building on our momentum and the unigue clinical value our tissue per-
fusion measurement provides, we plan to expand use of the InSpectra™
$t0, System beyond trauma and into emergency rooms, operating
rooms and intensive care units. Our long-term goal is for our device
to be the standard for measuring tissue perfusion in multiple critical
care settings.

In summary, in a difficult year, we took the actions needed to perma-
nently reduce our costs, return to profitability, improve cash flow and
positien the company for long-term growth.

* Qur cost-cutting actions helped us return to profitability in our fiscal
2007 fourth quarter and will continue to benefit profitability in 2008.

VI 04 Hatchinson Technalogy

We are focused on estab-
lishing the InSpectra™ S0,
System as the standard

of care for measuring
tissue perfusion.

* The improved profitability we expect
in 2008, coupled with additional reductions
in capital spending, will further improve cash
generation,

* We have positioned our Disk Drive Components Division
to act on gpportunities for profitable growth by advancing our
capahilities to produce increasingly complex suspension assemblies.

+ Qur BioMeasurement Division successfully launched an innovative
medical device with potential for broad use that instantly detects
changes in a patient's perfusion status, enabling clinicians to make
better treatment decisions in critical care settings.

Thanks to the dedication and commitment of our people, we further
strengthened the qualities that have made us a long-time industry and
technology leader. We thank our shareholders for their continued sup-
port as we work to deliver performance that merits cantinued loyalty.

Wayne M. Fortun
President and Chief Executive Officer

%LW

John A. ingleman
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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Documents Incorporated By Reference
Partions of our Proxy Statement for the annual meeting of sharehalders to be held January 30, 2008 are incorporated by
reference in Part Ili.

Forward-Looking Statements

Statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K that are not statements of historical fact should be considered
forward-looking statements within the meaning of the safe harbor provisions of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”).
Forward-tooking statements include, but are not limited to, statements regarding the following: the demand for and shipments
of disk drives, suspension assemblies and suspension assembly components, disk drive and suspension assembly technology
and development, the development of and market demand for medical devices, capita! expenditures and capital resources,
average selling prices, inventory levels, gross margins and operating results and manufacturing capacity. Words such as
“believe;” “anticipate,” “expect,” “intend,” “estimate,” “approximate” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-
looking statements but are not the exclusive means of identifying such statements. Although we believe these statements are
reasonable, forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties that may cause actual results to differ materially from
those projected by such statements. Factors that could cause actual results to differ from those discussed in the forward-
looking statements include, but are not limited to, those discussed under the heading “Risk Factors” beginning on page 9. This
list of factors may not be exhaustive, however, and these or other factors, many of which are outside of our control, could have a
material adverse effect on us and our results of operations. Therefore, you should consider these risk factors with caution and
form your own critical and independent conclusions about the likely effect of these risk factors on our future performance.
Forward-looking statements speak anly as of the date on which the statements are made, and we undertake no obligation to
update any forward-looking statement for any reason, even if new information becomes available or other events occur in the
future. You should carefully review the disclosures and the risk factors described in this and other documents we file from time
to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC"), including our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports
on Form 10-Q and Curment Reports on Form 8-K. All forward-looking statements attributable to us or persons acting on our
behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements set forth herein.




PART |
HUTCHINSON TECHNOLOGY INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES

Item 1. Business

When we refer to “we,” “our” “us,” the “company” or “HTL” we mean Hutchinson Technology Incorporated and its
subsidiaries. Unless otherwise indicated, references to “2008” mean our fiscal year ending September 28, 2008, references
to “2007" mean our fiscal year ended September 30, 2007, references to “2006” mean our fiscal year ended September 24,
2006, references to “2005" mean our fiscal year ended September 25, 2005, references to “2004" mean our fiscal year
ended September 26, 2004, references to “2003” mean our fiscal year ended September 28, 2003 and references to “2002”
mean our fiscal year ended September 29, 2002.

OVERVIEW

We are a global technology leader committed to creating value by developing solutions to critical customer problems. Cur
culture of quality, continuous improvement, superior innovation and a relentless focus on the fundamentals enables us to lead
in the markets we serve. We incorporated in Minnesota in 1965,

Our Disk Drive Components Diviston is the world's leading supplier of suspension assemblies for disk drives. Suspension
assemblies are precise electro-mechanical components that hold a disk drive's read/write head at microscopic distances
above the drive's disks. Our innovative product solutions help customers improve yields, increase reliability and enhance disk
drive performance, thereby increasing the value they derive from our products.

Our BioMeasurement Division is focused on bringing new technologies and products to the market that provide
information clinicians can use to improve the quality of health care. Late in calendar 2006, we launched the InSpectra™ St0,
System for perfusion status manitoring. This noninvasive device provides a continuous, real-time and direct measurement, of
tissue oxygen saturation (St0,), an indicator of perfusion status. By helping clinicians instantly detect changes in a patient’s
perfusion status, the InSpectra St0, System enables clinicians to make better treatment decisions in critical care settings.

DISK DRIVE COMPONENTS DIVISION

QOur Disk Drive Components Division manufactures suspension assemblies for all sizes and types of hard disk drives.
Suspension assemblies are critical components of disk drives that hold the read/write heads in position above the spinning
magnetic disks. We developed our leadership position in suspensicn assemblies through research, development and design
activities coupled with substantial investment in process capabilities, product features and manufacturing capacity. We
manufacture our suspension assemblies with proprietary technology and processes with very low part-to-part variation. These
processes require manufacturing to precise specifications that are critical to maintaining the necessary microscopic clearance
between the head and disk and the electrical connectivity between the head and the drive circuitry, During 2007, we shipped
865 million suspension assemblies of all types, supplying neary all domestic and foreign-based manufacturers of disk drives
and head-gimbal assemblers,

We design our suspension assemblies with a focus on the increasing performance requirements of new disk drives,
principally smaller read/write heads, increased data density, improved head to disk stability during a physical shock event and
reduced data access time. Increased capacity, improved reliability and performance, as well as the miniaturization of disk
drives, generally require suspension assemblies with lower variability, specialized design, expanded functionality and greater
precision. We will continue to Invest in advancing suspension assembly technology, enhancing our process capabilities and
expanding our production capacity to maintain our market position.

We believe that end user demand for storage capacity will continue to increase as evolving consumer electronics and
computing applications continue to require storage devices with increased capacity and functionality. For calendar year 2008,
storage industry analysts are forecasting unit shipments of disk drives to increase by at least 10%. This growth in disk drive
shipments will, in tum, continue to generate growth in demand for suspension assemblies. We expect that our share in the
desktop segment, the largest segment of the market, will continue to decline as certain programs for which we are a major
suppfier approach the end of their market fives. We expect to counter this decline somewhat by further increasing our share in
the faster growing mobile segment and continuing our strong leadership position in the enterprise segment.
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Products

We categorize our current products as either suspension assemblies or other products, which consist primarily of etched
and stamped component parts used in connection with, or related to, suspension assemblies.

The following table shows, for each of 2007, 2006 and 2005, the relative contribution to net sales, in millions of dollars
and percentages, of each product category:

2007 2006 2005
Amoust % Amount % Amount %
Suspension assemblies . .. .. ... ..o L. $691.8 97% $682.2 95% $608.8 96%
Otherproducts . ...... ... onnn, 238 3 30 _5 223 _4
Total Disk Drive Components Division net sales. . . . . $7156 100% $7212 100% $631.1  100%

See Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements contained in Itern 15 for financial information with respect to our
business segments and a distribution of revenue and long-lived assets by geographic area for each of 2007, 2006 and 2005.
See also Eleven-Year Selected Financial Data.

Suspension Assemblies. During 2007, we shipped 865 million suspension assemblies, compared to 805 million and
719 million in 2006 and 2005, respectively. We shipped TSA suspensions produced using our “subtractive” manufacturing
processes, which incorporate into the suspension the electrical connection from the read/wiite head to the disk drive's
electronic circuitry. We also shipped conventional suspension assemblies, which do not provide the electrical connectivity
features of a TSA suspension. We have the capability to produce multiple variations of suspension assemblies. This capability
permits us to assist customers’ design efforts and meet the varied and changing requirements of specific customers. We have
developed significant proprietary capabilities in the design and production of suspension assemblies for both current and
emerging disk drive designs, including advanced suspension assemblies developed in anticipation of new generations of higher
performance disk drives and read/write heads.

The continual pursuit of increased data density and lower storage costs is leading to suspension assemblies with finer
electrical conductors and further adoption of value-added features for suspension assemblies, such as clad unamount arms,
plated grounds, electrostatic protection measures, formed and polished headlifts, a variety of limiter configurations, dampers,
laminated loadbeams and dual stage actuation. We also produce suspension assemblies that incorporate flexures, a
component of a suspension assembly, using an “additive” manufacturing process to accommodate further electrical conductor
miniaturization and the smaller next-generation read/write heads. We call our suspension assemblies that incorporate flexures
produced using our additive manufacturing process TSA+ suspension assembiies, We are currently supporting TSA+
suspension program development activities for multiple customers’ next-generation disk drive programs and continue to
make progress on our additive processing capabilities as we prepare to bring our TSA+ operations to volume. We do not expect
to generate significant revenue from our TSA+ suspension assemblies during 2008. We are also purchasing some additive
components to fill other existing customer development requirements.

Other Products. To further assure customers that the suspensions they require for their products will be readily
available when and where they are needed, we manufacture and sell to competitive suspension assembly manufacturers
etched and stamped component parts, such as flexures and baseplates, for suspensions. In 2007, sales of component paris
accounted for approximately 3% of our revenue. We anticipate component sales to be a reduced portion of our revenue in 2008.

Manufacturing

Our manufacturing strategy focuses on reliably producing suspension assemblies in high volume with the consistent
precision and features required by our customers. We have developed advanced proprietary process, inspection and
measurement systems and controls, and related automated production equipment. We have adopted an integrated
manufacturing approach that closely couples design, tooling and manufacturing, which has facilitated the development,
implementation and high-volume production of new suspension assembly products. We believe that our integrated approach
and dedicated development capability give us a competitive advantage in quickly supplying suspension assembly prototypes
and ramping volume manufacturing.




Our integrated manufacturing approach aiso helps us to respond to short-term shifts in market demand. Fluctuations in
demand from quarter to quarter and an increasing number of customer programs in volume production require overall business
agility. We must operate efficiently over a wide range of peak volumes and product types, often producing a wider variety of
suspension assemblies in fower volumes.

Our products require several manufacturing processes, each dependent on different technical disciplines, to ensure the
high degree of precision and the process control necessary to meet strict customer requirements. We also have developed
additive processing to produce flexures for future generations of suspension assemblies that meet the increasingly tighter
performance specifications of our customers. Additive processing involves depositing thin metal tayers onto a polyimide surface
in the shape of the desired circuitry and then imaging and plating up metal layers to form the suspension’s electrical
conductors. The manufacturing processes we employ include photoetching, stamping, chemical deburming, automated optical
inspection, plasma etching, plating, precision forming, laser welding, metal deposition and ultrasonic cleaning.

Qur critical raw material needs are available through multiple sources of supply, with the following exceptions. Certain
types of stainless steel, as well as covercoat and liquid photoresist (liquid compounds used in our manufacturing process), are
cumently single-sourced because the raw materials provided by these sources meet our strict specifications. We have chosen to
obtain certain other materials, such as gold salts and a laminate constructed from raw material that contains stainless steel,
polyimide and copper, from a limited set of sources because of quality and pricing considerations. To protect against the
adverse effect of a short-term supply disruption, we maintain several weeks' supply of these materials.

Our production processes require the storage, use and disposal of a variety of chemicals that are considered hazardous
under applicable federal and state laws. Accordingly, we are subject 1o a vartety of regulatory requirements for the handling of
such materials. We do not anticipate any material effect on our capital expenditures, eamings or competitive position due to
compliance with government regulations involving environmental matters.

Research and Development

The disk drive industry is subject to rapid technological change, and our ability to remain competitive depends on, among other
things, our ability to anticipate and respond to changes and to continue our close working relationships with the engineering staffs of
our customers. As a resuit, we have devoted and will continue to devote substantial resources to research and development efforts.
Our research and development expenses for the Disk Drive Components Division were approximately $51,038,000, $46,690,000
and $32,753,000, in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Beginning with the fourth quarter of 2007, we are classifying all of the
costs of running our TSA+ suspension manufacturing lines as cost of goods sold, whereas we had previously classified a portion of
these costs as research and development expense. This change, along with ¢ost reduction measures, will resuft in 2008 research and
development expenses that will be approximately 6% of net sales, down from 8% in 2007.

The transition to smaller disk drives, the development of smaller next-generation read/write heads, continuing
improvement in data density and the increasing use of disk drives in consumer electronics applications necessitate the
further miniaturization of suspension assemblies. Through continued investment in research and development, our existing
processes for manufacturing TSA suspension assemblies are being extended to meet escalating customer requirements for
precision and performance. We have and will continue to implement altemative technologies, including additive processing to
produce flexures for our TSA+ suspension assemblies that we believe will be required for manufacturing future generations of
our products. We are working with multiple customers developing TSA+ suspensions for their next-generation disk drive
programs. We have completed installation of a volume TSA+ suspension production line, and we are preparing our TSA+
operations for higher volume. We expect the transition to TSA+ suspensions to take place over the next five to seven years, with
the pace of transition determined primarily by the pace at which disk drive makers introduce and ramp production of programs
requiring additive processing. As a result, we do not expect to generate significant revenue from this product during 2008.

Our research and development efforts also are directed at continuing to develop suspension assembly capability and
features that enable our products to meet performance criteria desired by our customers for specific drive applications.
Measurement, process development and process control are critical to improving capability related to static attitude, gram
force, resonance and windage, all performance characteristics important to suspension assemblies. Our current suspension
assembly features include clad unamount arms, plated grounds, electrostatic protection measures, formed and polished
headlifts, a variety of limiter configurations, dampers, faminated loadbeams and dual stage actuation.
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Customers and Marketing

Qur disk drive products are sold principally through our account management team operating primarily from our
headquarters in Hutchinson, Minnesota. Through subsidiaries, we have managers, technical representatives and quality
coordinators in Asia. We sell our suspension assemblies to original equipment manufacturers for use in their products and to
subassemblers who sell to original equipment manufacturers, We also sell suspension assembly components to competitors.
Our account management team is organized by individual customer, and contacts are typically initiated with both the
customer's purchasing agents and its engineers. Cur engineers and account management team together actively participate in
the selling process and in maintaining customer relationships.

We have established “vendor managed inventory, or VMI, facilities near the major production centers of certain individual
customers to assure that we meet the customers’ inventory requirements. Certain agreements with our customers provide that
we maintain minimum finished goods inventory levels. During 2007, approximately 90% of our suspension assembly
shipments were distributed to our customers in Thailand, Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China through our VMI
facilities. We also have established a service center in Thailand that provides product logistics suppor, technical support and
measurement services.

We are a supplier to nearly all domestic and foreign-based manufacturers of disk drives and head-gimbal assemblers. The
following tabte shows our five largest customers for 2007 as a percentage of net sales.

Percentage of
Customer _Not Sales
SAE Magnetics, Ltd./TDK Corporation . .......c.ciivirnvnvann, 29%
Seagate Technology, LLC .. ... ... ... . i 26%
Western Digital Corporation ............ ... .. ... i, 20%
Alps Electric Co., Ltd. .. .. .. ... .. . e 8%
711 6%

Sales to our five largest customers constituted 89%, 86% and 89% of net sales for 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
Significant portions of our revenue may be indirectly attributable to large manufacturers of disk drives, such as Samsung,
Toshiba and Hitachi Global Storage Technologies, which may purchase read/write head assemblies from read/write head
manufacturers that utilize our suspension assemblies and suspension assembly components. In September 2007, TDK
Corporation acquired the recording head business of our customer Alps Electric Co., Ltd. We expect to continue to depend upon
a [imited number of customers for our sales, given the relatively small number of disk drive manufacturers and head-gimbal
assemblers. Our results of operations could be adversely affected by reduced demand from our major customers.

Backlog

We generally make our sales pursuant to purchase orders rather than long-term contracts. Qur backlog of purchase orders
was approximately $115,400,000 at September 30, 2007, as compared to $118,900,000 at September 24, 2006. Our
purchase orders may be changed or cancelled by customers on short notice. In addition, we believe that it is a common practice
for disk drive manufacturers te place orders in excess of their needs during growth periods. Accordingly, we do not believe that
backlog should be considered indicative of sales for any future period,

Seasonality

The disk drive industry is increasingly experiencing seasonal variability in demand with higher levels of demand in the
second half of the calendar year. This seasenality is driven by consumer spending in the winter holiday season. In addition,
corporate demand is higher during the second half of the calendar year when [T budget calendars typically provide for more
spending. Seasonal variability in demand for our suspension assemblies generally tracks that of the disk drive industry and may
also be delayed or accelerated by existing inventory levels in the supply chain.

Competition

We believe that the principal factors of competition in the suspension assembly market include time to market, product
performance and quality, design expertise, customer service, reliability of volume supply and price. We believe that we are the
leading supplier of suspension assemblies sold to manufacturers of disk drives and head-gimbal assemblers. Our principal
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competitors for suspension assemblies are Nihon Hatsujo Kabusikigaisha (“NHK"), NAT Peripheral (H.K.) Co., Ltd., (a joint
venture of NHK and SAE Magnetics, Ltd./TDK Corporation) and Magnecomp Precision Technology Public Company Limited
(“MPT"). In August 2007, TDK Corporation announced it had signed a purchase agreement to acquire MPT with an expected
closing date by the end of calendar 2007. Our principal competitors in producing suspension flexures are Dae Nippon
Corporation using subtractive processing and Nitto Denko Corporation using additive processing. Although we cannot be sure
that the number of competitors will not increase in the future or that users of suspension assemblies will not develop internal
capabilities to manufacture suspension assemblies or suspension assembly components, we believe that the number of
entities that have the technical capability and capacity for producing precision suspension assemblies or components in large
volumes will remain small,

We continually monitor technological developments in and potential threats to the disk drive storage market and we
believe disk drives will remain the primary data storage technology for the foreseeable future, However, other types of data
storage technology, such as solid state storage or flash (semiconductor) memory, holographic memory, tape memory and
optical (DVD and CD) drives, may become competitive with certain disk drive applications, and thereby could affect the
demand for our products. As an example, emerging applications requiring digital storage, particularly in consumer electronics
products that require lower storage capacity, may use flash memary instead of disk drives, which may limit growth opportunities
for disk drive-based data storage. We believe that these technologies will not materially impact the market for disk drives in the
near future.

BIOMEASUREMENT DIVISION

We established the BioMeasurement Division in 1996 with the objective of leveraging our culture of quality, engineering
capabilities and leading-edge measurement technology in the medical market. We applied our engineering and manufacturing
expertise to develop a device that noninvasively provides information about tissue perfusion, critical information needed in the
resuscitation of trauma patients experiencing hemorrhagic shock. Our first device, the InSpectra Tissue Spectrometer, was
introduced in 2002 and was used primarily for research. Late in calendar 2006, we launched a second-generation product for
clinical use, the InSpectra St0, System, which we are cumently providing to key trauma centers for evaluation and selling to
them for clinical use.

Products

We designed the InSpectra St0, System for use in the trauma and emergency medicine markets where there is a need to
directly monitor the compromised tissue perfusion associated with hemorrhagic and other forms of shock, The system consists
of the InSpectra 5t0, Tissue Oxygenation Monitor and the InSpectra $t0, Sensor, which are connected by a short length of
optical cable. The InSpectra 5t0, System has received U.S. Food and Drug Administration {“FDA") 510k ciearance and CE
Mark registration in the Eurapean Union. The device provides an absolute measure of local tissue oxygen saturation (5t0,),
which quantifies the ratio of oxygenated hemeglobin to total hemoglobin in the microcirculation of skeletal or peripheral
muscle. This measurement helps clinicians instantly assess and detect changes in the patient’s overall perfusion status,
enabling them to make better treatment decisions in critical care settings.

The InSpectra $t0, System uses near infrared spectroscopy to noninvasively provide a continuous, real-time and direct
measurement of 50, in muscle tissue. The InSpectra St0, Tissue Oxygenation Monitor is configured for use with the single-
use sensor, which is applied to the thenar eminence (the muscle at the base of the thumb on the palm side of the hand}. The
thenar eminence has proven to be the most reliable site for obtaining tissue perfusion readings. It provides consistent results
among patients, with minimal influence from factors such as adipose tissve, edema and differences in tissue densities.

There are currently no other clinical methods for directly determining oxygen saturation in the microcirculation of tissue.
Blood chemistry tests indirectly indicate tissue oxygenation levels, but the tests can be compromised by alcehol in the patient's
bloodstream and also require blood samples, making them invasive and intermittent. In contrast, the InSpectra $t0, System
noninvasively provides a direct, real-time and continuous St0, reading. Pulse oximeters give clinicians another indication of
oxygenation, but Sp0,, the measurement taken by pulse oximeters, represents the oxygen saturation of arterial blood and does
not reflect how well oxygen is making its way into tissue. The InSpectra $t0, Tissue Oxygenation Monitor measures local tissue
oxygen saturation and not arterial blood oxygenatfon; its readings will vary as the supply and consumption of oxygen change at
the measurement site. Transcutaneous PO, measures the partial pressure of oxygen in the skin and only permits an inference of
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whether tissue is being oxygenated based on what is being emitted by the skin. Our device measures oxygen saturation in the
microcirculation of muscle tissue below the sensor to produce an accurate $t0; reading.

Manufacturing

We manufacture and assemble the inSpectra $t0, Tissue Oxygenation Monitor and the inSpectra $t0, Sensor in our
Hutchinson, Minnesota manufacturing facility, using components and subassemblies obtained from outside suppliers. Our
manufacturing process complies with the FDA's Quality System Regulation. We also comply with 1SG 13485:2003, an
international guality systems standard for manufacturing processes, and our compliance with the ISO standard is audited
annually by a third pary.

Research and Development

We have conducted, and continue to conduct, clinical studies to demonstrate the effectiveness and value of our
technology for patients who are in or may be about to go into shock, as well as for other clinical applications. We also devote
research and engineering resources to ongoing product development focused on addressing hemorrhagic shock and have
conducted initial research into the potential application of near infrared spectroscopy to the monitoring of septic, cardiogenic
and pulmonary shock, all of which involve insufficient tissue perfusion. For 2007, 2006 and 2005, research and development
expenses for the BioMeasurement Division were approximately $4,207,000, $6,249,000 and $4,076,000, respectively.

We established a Trauma and Critical Care Advisory Board in 2003 to ensure that the technology we devetop addresses
real and unanswered medical needs. Forthe last several years, we have focused on trauma and hemomhagic shock studies and
have conducted a key mulii-site trial and several investigator-initiated studies, most of which have been pilot studies. In
September 2006 we announced the results of the multi-site StQ, Trauma Study we sponsored that was conducted by seven
Level | trauma centers that enrolted 383 trauma patients. It was initiated in 2004 to identify the role StQ, monitoring with our
device could play in monitoring the inadequate tissue perfusion associated with hemorthagic shock. The study was designed to
determine whether St0, measurements on the thenar eminence are an indicator of hypoperfusion {inadequate blood flow and
oxygenation). Data from the study show that $t0, measured noninvasively on the thenar eminence is a statistically significant
indicator of hypoperfusion in trauma patients and functions as well as base deficit and |actate measures, with the added
benefits of being continuous, direct and noninvasive. The results of the StO, Trauma Study were published in the January 2007
Journal of Trauma.

Our technology and product also may have potential clinical applications beyond the trauma and emergency medicine
markets, but additional clinical research and product development may be required before we enter other markets.

Marketing, Sales and Distribution

We have focused our marketing efforts on preparing the trauma market to understand the value of StO, in monitoring
trauma patients and how the InSpectra $t0, System works. We have hired individuals with extensive experience in the areas of
medical sales, marketing and clinical and regulatory affairs, and we have attended key trauma and critical care conferences,
sponsored educational forums, produced newsletters and established key opinion leader relationships.

We estimate that the world-wide trauma market for StQ, monitoring represents up to an $800 million annual market in
2012. We expect our early customers to be large trauma centers in the United States and majar medical centers in Europe. We
then plan to expand our sales efforts to mid-tier trauma centers in the United States and Europe, as well as other departments
of our existing customers. We are selling our device using a direct sales force dedicated to the BioMeasurement Division.

We offer our customers a flexible technology acquisition program that will encourage a short-term, no-cost evaluation
followed by an extended sensor purchase program or monitor rental period, as well as direct purchase opportunities. We
anticipate that many of our customers will use the product through our sensor purchase program prior to a direct purchase of the
monitor.

Competition

The InSpectra $t0, System is currently the oniy noninvasive tissue oxygenation monitor designed for the trauma and
emergency medicine environments. Somanetics Corporation and CAS Medical Systems, Inc. produce devices that use near
infrared spectroscopy to monitor levels of cerebral oxygen. ViOptix, Inc. produces a device that uses near infrared spectroscopy
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to monitor tissue oxygenation, but it is focused on plastic surgery applications. Somanetics Corporation also has launched a
product to monitor changes in regional blood oxygen saturation in both cerebral and somatic (torso) tissue. In addition, other
companies may have the ability to develop tissue perfusion monitors that use near infrared spectroscopy and that may in the
future compete with the InSpectra St0, System. It is possible that any of these companies, or others, may develop and market
a product similar to the InSpectra 5t0, System for use in trauma or emergency medicine settings.

We also face competition from alternative clinical methodologies. {f trauma clinicians do not incorperate St0; into their
decision making and instead continue to rely on indirect indications of tissue perfusion provided by blood tests, in-dwelling
catheters and vital sign parameters, for instance, we may have difficulties selling our product.

GENERAL
Forelgn Sales

Sales to foreign-based enterprises for both divisions totaled $356,141,000, $434,979,000 and $387,512,000 for
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Sales to foreign subsidiaries of U.S. corporations totaled $328,743,000, $233,860,000
and $198,905,000 for 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The majority of these sales were to the Pacific Rim region. In
addition, we have significant sales to U.S. corporations which use our products in their offshore manufacturing sites.

intellectual Properties

We regard much of the equipment, processes, information and knowledge that we generate and use in the manufacture of
our products as proprietary and protectable under applicable trade secret, copyright and unfair competition laws. In addition, if
we develop manufacturing equipment, products and processes for making disk drive products where patents might enhance
our position, we have pursured, and we will continue 10 pursue, patents in the United States and in other countries covering our
disk drive products. We also have L.S. and foreign patents issued and pending on the technology employed by the
InSpectra S$t0, System,

As of September 30, 2007, we held 179 U.S, patents and 43 foreign patents, and we had 82 patent applications pending
in the United States and 25 patent applications pending in other countries covering both our Disk Drive Components and our
BioMeasurement Divisions. Intemally, we protect intellectual property and trade secrets through physical security measures at
our facilities, as well as through non-disclosure and non-competition agreements with all employees and confidentiality policies
and non-disclosure agreements with consultants, strategic suppliers and customers.

In the past, we have entered into licensing and cross-licensing agreements under certain of our patents and patent
applications allowing some of our disk drive competitors to produce products similar to ours in retumn for royalty payments
and/or cross-license rights. In November 2001, we entered into cross-license agreements with three suspension assembly
suppliers, and in October 2003, we entered into an additional cross-licensing agreement with an additional suspension
assembly supplier, enabling each of them to offer customers in the disk drive industry TSA suspension assemblies based on our
proprietary technelogy. The agreements also include cross-licenses to certain existing and future suspension assembly
technology.

From time to time, third parties in the disk drive industry have asserted patents against us or our customers that may relate
to certain of our manufacturing equipment or products or to products that include our products as a component. We also have
litigated claims against a competitive supplier in the disk drive industry alleging infringement of our patents. In addition, some
of our disk drive industry customers have been sued on patents having claims closely related to products we sell. We expect
that, as the number of patents issued continues to increase, the volume of intellectual property claims could increase.

Employees

As of September 30, 2007, we had 4,698 employees. The departure of a significant number of our specialized employees
who cannot be replaced by comparable personnel would impair our ability to conduct our business. The locations of our plants
and the broad span and complexity of technology encompassed by our products and processes limit the number of qualified
engineering and other candidates for key positions. We expect that we will continue to use internal training for the development
of key employees. None of our employees is subject to a collective bargaining agreement, and we have experienced no related
work stoppages. We believe that our employee relations are good.
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Avallable Information

Qur website is: http://www.htch.com, We make available, free of charge, through our website materials we file with or
furnish to the SEC pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act, including our Annuat Report on Form 10-K, our Quarterly
Reports on Form 10-Q, our Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports. These materials are posted on our
website as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file them with or furnish them to the SEC.

Members of the public may read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the SEC's Public Reference Room at
450 Fifth Street, NW, Washington, DC 20549. Information on the operation of the Public Reference Room is available by calling
the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC maintains a website that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other
information about us and other issuers that file electronically at hitp://www.sec.gov.

ltem 1A. Risk Factors
DISK DRIVE COMPONENTS DIVISION

Almost all of our sales depend on the disk drive industry, which is cyclical, subject to ongolng technological innovation
and subject to intense price competition.

Sales of suspension assemblies and suspension assembly components accounted for 99% of our net sales in 2007,
20086 and 2005. The disk drive industry is intensely competitive and technology changes rapidly, such as during past industry
transitions te smaller disks or higher density read/write heads. The industry’s demand for disk drive components also
fluctuates. The disk drive industry experiences periods of increased demand and rapid growth followed by periods of oversupply
and subsequent contraction, as in our fourth quarter of 2005. These cycles may affect suppliers to this industry because disk
drive manufacturers tend to order more disk drive components than they may need during growth periods, and sharply reduce
orders for these components during periods of contraction. From time to time, disk drive manufacturers may compete more
aggressively on price and exert downward price pressure on disk drive component suppliers. if there is continued downward
pressure on prices of disk drive components, our operating results could be negatively affected.

Industry transitions in head technology and data density improvements impact demand for suspension assemblies.
During past industry transitions production yields of head and disk drive manufacturers initially were reduced. Because a
significant partion of head yield reduction occurs after the head is bonded onto the suspension assembly, low yields at our
customers, as in 2003, often result in increased demand for suspension assemblies. When our customers improve their
production yields, as in 2004, overall demand for our products may be negatively impacted. Our results of operations could be
matenally adversely affected if a reduction in the industry's component demand continues long-term or a future significant
slowdown in the industry occurs.

We may not be able to utilize our capacity efficiently or accurately plan our capacity requirements, which may negatively
affect our operating results.

We increase our production capacity and the overhead that supports production based on anticipated market demand.
Market demand, however, has not always developed as expected or remained at a consistent level. The underutilization that can
result decreases our profitability. For example, in 2007, market demand for our suspension assemblies was below our
expectations primarily due to our loss of market share in the mature desktop segment of the disk drive market. This resulted in
underutilization of our manufacturing capacity. As a result, our profitability also was below our expectations.

The following factors complicate accurate capacity planning for market demand:

- changes in the demand for and mix of specific products our customers buy and the features they require;

« our ability to add and train staff to operate our production equipment in advance of demand,;

- the market’s pace of technological change;

- variability in our manufacturing yields and productivity; and

- long lead times for most of our plant and equipment expenditures, requiring major financial commitments well in
advance of actual production requirements.

Our inability to plan our capacity requirements accurately and efficientty utilize our production capacity, or our faiture to put in
place the technologies and capacity necessary to meet market demand, could adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.




Our sales are concentrated In a small customer base.

Aithough we supply nearly all domestic and foreign-based manufacturers of disk drives and head-gimbal assemblers,
sales to our five largest customers constituted 89%, 86% and 89% of net sales in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Over the
years, the disk drive industry has experienced numerous consolidations. In September 2007, TDK Corporation acquired the
recording head business of our customer Alps Electric Co., Ltd. In addition, in August 2007, TDK Corporation also announced it
had signed a purchase agreement to acquire MPT with an expected closing date by the end of calendar 2007. These
consolidations, together with companies exiting the disk drive industry, result in fewer, but larger, customers for our products.
The failure by any one of our customers to pay its account balance with us could have a material adverse effect on our results of
operations.

The following factors could adversely impact our market share:

- loss of market share by one of our major customers;

* change in supply chain alignment by a customer;

* loss of one or more of our major customers for any reason, including the development by any one customer of the
capability to produce suspension assemblies in high volume for its own products; and

* change in the type of suspension assembly used by a customer.

Any reduction in our market share could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

We may not be able to manufacture our products efficlently due to changes in product mix or technology, or other
unforeseen events.

We manufacture a wide variety of suspension assemblies with different selling prices and manufacturing costs. Disk drive
makers continue to expand their product lines to include drives offering performance characteristics optimized for specific
applications, which has resulted in a proliferation of individual disk drive programs. We cannot produce certain low-volume disk
drive programs as efficiently as we produce high-volume programs. Our product mix varies as market demand changes. Any
substantial variation in product mix can lead to changes in utilization of our equipment and tooling, inventory obsolescence and
overstaffing in certain areas, all of which could adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Manufacturing yields, efficiencies and processing operations vary from product to product. Newer products often require
new or additional manufacturing process steps and typically have lower initial manufacturing yields and efficiencies as we ramp
up manufacturing. As a result, new products are frequently more expensive to produce and may not be profitable. We are using
new manufacturing processes to produce TSA+ suspension assemblies, which may cause us to experience inefficiencies and
lower yields. We have experienced missed shipments and increased sales returns in the past as we ramp up manufacturing of
new products, or as new features for our products are introduced, or as new manufacturing processes are implemented. We
also may in the future experfence missed shipments or increased sales returns, In addition, we may be required to reimburse
customers for product costs relating to the incorporation of defective suspension assemblies into our customers’ products. We
may not attain our output goals and be profitable with regard to any of our suspension assembly products.

We may need to transfer production of certain suspension assemblies from one manufacturing site to another. in the past,
such transfers have lowered initial yields and/or manufacturing efficiencies. This results in higher manufacturing costs. Our
manufacturing plants are located in Minnesota, South Dakota and Wisconsin, all of which can experience severe weather.
Severe weather has, at times, resulted in lower production and decreased our shipments.

Our ability to conduct business would be impaired if our workforce were to be unionized or if a significant number of our
specialized employees were to leave and we could not replace them with comparable personnel. Our business may be adversely
affected if we need to adjust the size of our workforce due to fluctuating demand. The locations of our plants and the broad span
and technological complexity of our products and pracesses may limit the number of satisfactary engineering and other
candidates for key positions.

If the rate of data denslty improves at a significantly faster rate than the rate of increase In the demand for disk drive
storage, demand for suspension assemblies may decrease.

Disk drive manufacturers have been able to steadily increase data density, and we believe that they will continue to do so
for the foreseeable future. Increasing data density permits drive manufacturers to reduce the average number of disks in each
disk drive, which in tum reduces the number of components they need per drive, including suspension assemblies. From
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calendar 1999 through 2002, the rate of improvement in data density exceeded historical rates, and we estimate that the
average number of suspension assemblies required per drive decreased from approximately 4.5 in calendar 1999 to
approximately 2.5 in calendar 2002. This contributed to a decrease in our total suspension assembly shipments from
583 million in fiscal 1999 to 398 million in fiscal 2002. In calendar 2003, we estimate that the average number of suspension
assemblies required per disk drive reached a low point of approximately 2.3. In calendar 2005, we estimate the average
number of suspension assemblies required per disk drive increased to 2.8, which benefited demand. We estimate the number
has remained relatively stable in calendar 2006 and 2007. If improvements in data density again begin to outpace growth in
data storage capacity requirements, then demand for our suspension assemblies may decline and we may not be able to
maintain or expand our suspension assembly business.

A slowdown In demand for computer systems and consumer electronics may cause a deciine In demand for suspension
assemblies.

Our suspension assemblies are components in computers and a variety of cansumer electronics products, The demand
for these products can be volatile, In a weak economy, consumer spending tends to decline and retail demand for computers
and other consumer electronics tends to decrease, as does business demand for computer systems. Demand for suspension
assemblies therefore may be adversely impacted as a result of a weaker economy. In addition, in the past, unexpected
siowdowns in demand for computer systems and consumer electronics have caused sharp declines in demand for suspension
assemblies, resulting in periods during which the supply of suspension assemblies exceeded demand. If an unexpected
slowdown in demand for suspension assemblies occurs or if demand decreases as a result of a weakening economy our results
of operations will be materially adversely affected as a result of lower revenue and gross margins.

Our investment In developing new process capabllitles to produce suspension assemblles could result in significant
increases in our operating expenses and may result In a product that Is not acceptable to our customers.

Rapid technological change in the disk drive industry, as well as the expanding use of disk drives in a growing range of
consumer electronics applications, has led to numerous suspension assembly design changes and tighter performance
specifications. To maintain our position in the disk drive industry, we need to develop new process capabilities to achieve the
ever increasing performance requirements of our customers. Also, if processes change, we may need to replace, modify or
design, build and install equipment. These changes may require additional capita! expenditures and increased development
and support expenses, which may adversely impact our operating results.

Our 2006 and 2007 research and development expenses increased primarily due to investments in the development of
new suspension assembly process capabilities and new products and product features. We expect to continue to have
significant research and development expenses for the following new products:

« suspension assemblies that incorporate flexures produced using additive processing,

- suspension assemblies with tighter performance specifications than our customers currently require;

- suspension assemblies that require additional or smaller electrical conductors;

- suspension assemblies that incorporate new materials, such as thinner laminates, which are more difficult to handle in
the manufacturing process; and

- suspension assemblies for use with smaller read/write heads.

We have invested, and continue to invest, a substantial amount of engineering and manufacturing resources to develop
process capabilities, including additive processing to produce suspension assembly flexures, to meet the ever increasing
performance requirements of our customers. Additive processing involves depositing thin metal layers onto a polyimide surface
in the shape of the desired circuitry and then imaging and plating up metal layers to form the suspension’s electrical
conductors. Although we expect to have volume production capabilities in place to fulfill customers’ requirements as the
transition to TSA+ suspension assemblies begins, we do not expect to generate significant revenue from this product
during 2008,

iIf our development of additive process capabilities is delayed for any reason or if TSA+ suspension assemblies cannot be
produced profitably in the quantities and to the specifications required by our customers, we may need to purchase increased
quantities of additive components. We may not be able to purchase the necessary quantity of such components on terms
acceptable to us or at all. The introduction of new process capabilities for our products increases the likelihood of unexpected
quality concems, which may negatively impact our ability to bring products to market on time and at acceptable costs. Further,
most of our current competitors use components produced through additive processing for volume production of suspension
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assemblies, which may give them an advantage in developing and qualifying new products with our customers. As we transition
TSA+ suspension assemblies from development to high-volume manufacturing, we will experience higher cost due to yield loss,
production inefficiencies and equipment problems. Furthermore, our additive processing capability is added in large blocks of
capacity, so certain equipment will be underutilized until demand develops.

Demand for our suspenslon assemblies will decllne if we are unable to quallfy our products In disk drive programs.

We must gualify our products with our customers, including our TSA+ suspension assembly which is not yet in high-volume
production. The qualification process for disk drive products can be complex and difficult. We cannot be sure that our
suspension assemblies will continue to be selected for design into our customers’ products. If we are unable to obtain
additional customer gualifications, or if we cannot qualify our products for high-volume production quantities, or at all, our
business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.

Our aperating results are subject to Ructuations.

Our past operating results, and our gross margins, have fluctuated from fiscal period to period. We expect our future
operating results and gross margins will continue to fluctuate from fiscal period to period. The following factars may cause these
fluctuations:

* changes in overall demand for our products;

+ changes in utilization of existing or newly added production capacity;

+ changes in our manufacturing yields and related scrap recovery,

+ changes in our production efficiency;

- increased costs when we start producing new products and features, and ramping up high-volume production;
- changes in the specific products our customers buy and features they require;

- changes in our selling prices;

* changes in our manufacturing process, or problems related to our manufacturing process;

- changes in our infrastructure costs and expected production and shipping costs, and how we control them;
* long disruptions in operations at any of our plants or our customers’ plants for any reason; and

+ changes in the cost of, or limits en, available materials and labor.

Our overall operating results in 2005 were favorably impacted by increased demand for data storage in traditional
computing applications, as well as in consumer electronics applications, a slower rate of improvement in data density requiring
additional disks to achieve the higher storage capacity required for many disk drive applications and our share positions on the
types of disk drives in particularly high demand. During the fourth quarter of 2005, however, our operating results were
negatively impacted by lighter demand, increased depreciation costs, a shift in product mix toward advanced suspension
assembly products that are typically more costly to produce in the ramp-up to higher volume {partially offset by a related
increase in our scrap recovery) and increased labor expenses. In the second half of 2006, and in all of 2007, we experienced
underutilization of our manufacturing capacity and the associated depreciation and overhead costs. Although we continue to
have limited visibility for future demand, we expect our profitability in 2008 will continue to benefit from the cost reductions
completed in the third quarter of 2007 but capacity utilization and leverage of fixed costs will continue to be key to improving
gross margin. If customer demand for suspension assemblies weakens, or if one or more customers reduce, defay or cangel
orders, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be maternally adversely affected.

We typically allow customers to change or cancel orders on short notice. We plan our production and inventory based
primarily on forecasts of customer demand, including forecasts of customer pulls of product out of our VMI facilities. Our
customers often prefer a dual source supply and, therefore, may allocate their demand among suppliers. Both customer
demand and the resulting forecasts often fluctuate substantially. These factors, among others, create an environment where
scheduled production and capacity utilization can vary, leading to variability in gross margins and difficulty in estimating our
position in the marketplace.

Qur selling prices are subject to market pressure from our competitors and pricing pressure from our customers. For
example, in 2004 our average selling prices declined as a result of planned price reductions triggered by higher volumes of
certain suspension assemblies, as well as a change in the mix of products we sold. Our selling prices also are affected by
changes in overall demand for our products, changes in the specific products our customers buy and a product’s life cycle. A
typical life cycle for our products begins with higher pricing when products are introduced and decreasing prices as they mature.
To offset price decreases during a product's life, we rely primarily on higher sales volume and improving our manufacturing
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yields and efficiencies to reduce our cost. Disk drive manufacturers are increasingly seeking lower cost designs and suspension
assembly pricing is becoming more competitive. For example, in 2007 we competed aggressively to supply suspension
assemblies for disk drive programs that are nearing the end of their market lives, and we will continue to do so. While we
produce suspension assemblies for these mature products very efficiently, our average selling price for these products is below
the overall average selling price for all of our suspension assemblies. If we cannot reduce ocur manufacturing costs as prices
decline during our products’ life cycles, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely
affected.

If our customers improve thelr manufacturing ylelds, demand for our suspension assemblies may decrease,

We believe that improvements in our sales and unit volumes in 2003 and the first half of 2004 were due in part to
manufacturing difficulties experienced by our customers as they transitioned to higher density read/write heads. These
customers experienced higher levels of defective read/write heads, which they were unable to detect until after they had
attached the read/write heads to our suspension assemblies. Our customers therefore required more suspension assemblies
in those years. We believe our customers improved their manufacturing yields, resulting in fewer suspension assemblies being
lost to scrap in their manufacturing, which dampened demand growth in 2004. Some of our customers may develop processes
by which they either separate our suspension assemblies from a defective read/write head in order to re-use suspension
assemblies or test the read/write head to ensure it is not defective before they attach the suspension assembly. If our
customers’ production yields continue to improve in the future, or if they succeed in their process development efforts and can
separate and re-use suspension assemblies or test the read/write head before attaching suspension assemblies, overall
suspension assembly shipments will decline and our operating results could be negatively affected.

Competing storage technology may reduce demand for our products.

Other types of data storage technology, such as solid state storage or flash {semiconductor) memory, holographic
memory, tape memory and optical (DVD and CD) drives, may become competitive with certain disk drive applications, and
thereby could affect the demand for our products. Higher capacity storage needs typically have been better served by disk
drives than by solid state storage such as flash memary, as disk drive manufacturers can offer more competitive cost per unit of
capacity, while lower capacity needs increasingly are being met by flash memory technology. If flash memary suppliers
overcome both the technical and economic limitations of flash memory storage and can offer better performance or more
competitive cost per unit of capacity than disk drive products, demand for disk drives, and thus for our products, may decrease.
Though consumer applications for flash storage also increase the need for back-up disk drives, mobile applications using flash
memory storage also may displace the need for disk drive storage back-up. Our business, financial condition and results of
operations could be materially adversely affected if the computer industry adopts technoiogy that replaces disk drives as a
computer data storage medium.

Competing process capabilities may reduce demand for our products.

We have historically defined our market leadership position through innovation and technelogical advancement that has
enabled our customers to deploy higher disk drive capacities at lower total costs. If we can no longer differentiate our product
features or process capabilities, competing suppliers may have access to a greater percentage of disk drive programs and
program share. This inability to differentiate could be caused through our misunderstanding of market requirements, including
technology changes, or through a market delay in advancing technology, which could enable a competitor to take market share.
The inahility to differentiate our product offerings could also allow for supply chain alignments between our customers and other
suppliers that could limit our access to available disk drive programs and corresponding market share. These alignments could
include share agreements, sole-sourcing conditions or primary access to development programs. Any of the above scenarios
could adversely impact our shipment volumes, average selling prices and operational costs.

We may have difficulty obtaining an adequate supply of raw materials that meet our sirict speclfications at reasonable prices.

Certain types of stainless steel, as well as covercoat and liquid photoresist (liquid compounds used in cur manufacturing
process}), are currently single-sourced because the raw materials provided by these sources meet our strict specifications. We
have chosen to obtain certain other materials, including gold salts and a laminate constructed from raw material that contains
stainless steel, polyimide and copper, from a limited set of sources because of quality and pricing considerations. If we were
not able to obtain an adequate supply of these materials from our current suppliers, we could experience production delays and
quality problems.
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The price we pay for stainless steel and laminate periodically is reset and can fluctuate with changes in the value of the
Japanese yen, which will impact our costs. The price we pay for gold salts and other precious metals has recently been
increasing. We typically do not pass this higher price on to our customers. If we could not obtain the materials referred to above
in the necessary quantities, with the necessary quality and at reasonable prices, our business, financial condition and results of
operations could be materially adversely affected.

BIOMEASUREMENT DIVISION

We do not know when, Iif ever, our BloMeasurement Division will be profitable.

We have a very limited operating history in the medical device market. Our first-generation device was used primarily for
research, and our second-generation product, the InSpectra St0, System, was introduced to the trauma market late in
cafendar 2006. We do not know how many systems we will be able to sell, the sales breakdown between monitors and sensors,
the margins we can expect or the amount of revenue that the product will generate. We do not have another medical device
product for sale, so all of the division’s revenue will be derived from sales of the InSpectra St0, System. We will continue to
spend significant amounts of money on medical device sales and marketing and research and development, which will limit the
division's profitability. We may never generate enough revenue from medical device sales to offset our expenditures on the
division.

We do not know whether our only medical product, the InSpectra StQ, System, will achleve market acceptance.

Our marketing strategy must overcome the difficulties inherent in the introduction of new products to the medical
community. Clinicians will not use the InSpectra $t0; System unless they conclude, based on clinical data and personal
evaluation experience, that St0, gives them information that is valuable when making treatment decisions. If clinicians
continue to rely on other methods when assessing the status of patients experiencing hemorrhagic shock, we will not be
successful in selling the InSpectra St0, System. The development of new medical technology to assess St0, may render our
product obsolete or uneconomical. Additionally, clinicians must be trained to use our InSpectra St0, System effectively.
Convincing clinicians to dedicate the time and energy necessary for adequate training in the use of our device is chatlenging,
and we do not know whether we will be successful in these efforts. If the InSpectra $t0, System is not widely accepted by
clinicians, is accepted more slowly than expected or is supplanted by superior technology, our sales may be materially
adversely impacted.

The long sales cycle for the InSpectra St0; System will defer the generation of revenue by our BloMeasurement Divislon.

We expect that the InSpectra St0, System will have a long sales cycle because it involves the introduction of and
education about a new measurement to potential customers, We believe that the period between initial discussions with a
potential customer and a sale of even a single device to that customer could take between six and twelve months, depending on
the potential customer’s budget and capital approval process. Training of clinicians alse may take a number of weeks after a
customer agrees to purchase the InSpectra 5t0; System. In addition, reliance by our potential customers on third-party payors,
including government programs and private health insurance plans, to reimburse some or all of the cost of patient care, and
cost containment measures that health-care providers and third-party payors are instituting, both in the United States and
internationally, coutd harm our ability to sell our product. These factors will create a significant iag in our ability to generate
revenue and may contribute to substantial fluctuations in our quarterly operating results geing forward, particularly during
periods in which our sales volume is relatively low. We also plan to market the device by offering customers an evaluation
followed by a sensor purchase program or monitor rental period. These sales methods will futher delay the generation of
significant revenue,

We currently have limited experience as a company selling, marketing or distributing medical devices, which could Impalr
the BioMeasurement Division's ability to achieve profitability.

We have limited experience as a company in the marketing, sale and distribution of medical devices. We are marketing the
InSpectra 5t0, System through a direct sales force. Developing a direct sales force is expensive and time consuming.
Additionally, any direct sales force that we develop will be competing against the experienced sales organizations used by other
manufacturers of medical devices. We may not be able to develop this capability on a timely basis or at all. We face significant
challenges and risks in establishing a direct sales force and marketing our device, including our ability to recruit, train and retain
adequate numbers of qualified sales and marketing personnel; the ability of sales personnel to obtain access to or persuade
adequate numbers of hospitals and trauma centers to purchase our device or clinicians to use our device; costs associated with
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hiring, maintaining and expanding a sales and marketing team; and government scrutiny associated with promotional activities
in the health-care industry. if we are unable to establish and maintain a direct sales, marketing and distribution network, our
BioMeasurement Division may be unable to generate revenue and may not become profitable, which would have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

We may not be able to develop new applications for our product or expand our medical device product line successfully.

For the near term, all of our BioMeasurement Division's revenue will come through sales of the InSpectra St0 Tissue
Oxygenation Monitor and the InSpectra St0, Sensor. As a result, our initial success will depend on the success of the
InSpectra $t0, System. If we are unable to widely commercialize the use of this system through our marketing initiatives, our
BioMeasurement Division will not be profitable. We are conducting research on other applications for the InSpectra $t0,
System and our near infrared spectroscopy technology. The development of additional applications will require significant
commitments of personnel and financial resources and we cannot be sure that they will be successful. Further, we cannot be
sure that any new medical applications or medical devices we develop will receive regulatory approval or market acceptance. If
the attempted extensions of our product offerings or new products are not commercially successful, our business, financial
condition and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected.

We have limited experience in manufacturing and assembiing the InSpectra $t0, System, and we may encounter
problems at our manufacturing facliity or otherwise experlence manufacturing delays or warranty claims that could resuit
in lost revenue.

We have limited experience in manufacturing, assembling or testing medical devices on a commercial scale. In order to
produce our InSpectra $t0, System in quantities sufficient to meet our anticipated market demand, we will need to increase
our manufacturing capacity by a significant factor over the current level. There are technical challenges to increasing
manufacturing capacity, including equipment design and automation, material procurement, problems with production yields
and quality control and assurance. Developing commercial scale manufacturing facilities for our BioMeasurement Division will
require the investment of substantiat funds and the hiring and retaining of additional management and technical personnel who
have the necessary manufacturing expertise. We may not successfully complete the required increase in manufacturing
capacity on a timely basis or at all. In addition, all of our manufacturing of the InSpectra St0, System is conducted at our
facilities in Hutchinson, Minnesota. We could encounter problems at these facilities, which could delay or prevent us from
maintaining our manufacturing capabilities. Further, if our manufacturing quality control is not adequate, we may experience
unanticipated product retums or warranty claims resulting in unforeseen expenses. We may be unable to meet the expected
demand for our InSpectra 510, System, maintain control over our expenses or quality or otherwise adapt to anticipated growth.
If we are unable to satisfy demand for our InSpectra St0; System, market acceptance of our products and our ability to
generate revenue could be materially adversely affected.

We may fail to comply with manufacturing regulations, or be suliject to product recalls, which could hurt our abliity to sell
and distribute our device and could subject us to fines, infunctions and penalties.

Our manufacturing process must comply with the FDA's Quality System Regulation, or QSR, which covers the methods and
documentation of the design, testing, production, contro!, quality assurance, labeling, packaging and shipping of our device.
The FDA enforces its QSR through inspections. We may not pass an inspection, resulting in a shut-down of cur manufacturing
operations, a recall of our device or the imposition of other sanctions, which could harm our revenues and profitability. In
addition, the FDA and simitar govemmental authorities in other countries in which our device may be sold may request and, in
some cases, require the recall of our device in the event of material deficiencies or defects in design or manufacture. Further,
our key component suppliers may fail to comply with applicable regulatory requirements. Any failure to comply with the QSR by
us, any failure by our suppliers to comply with regulatory requirements applicable to them or any product recall could harm
product sales and may subject us to fines, injunctions and penalties and damage our business.

We face the risk of product Hablilty clalms If the inSpectra St0 System falls to perform, and we may not be able to obtaln
adequate Insurance.

The business of our BioMeasurement Division exposes us to the risk of product liability claims inherent in the testing,
manufacturing and marketing of medical devices. Software defects in the monitor or other performance problems in the system
could result in the system's failure to monitor tissue oxygenation accurately, which would subject us to product liability claims,
and we may be subject to claims even if a medical failure is due to the actions of medical personnel using our product. Although
we have product fiabifity and clinical trial liability insurance that we believe is appropriate, this insurance is subject to
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deductibles and coverage limitations. Qur current product liability insurance may not continue to be available 10 us on
acceptable terms, if at all, or may not be adequate to cover any successful product liability claims. A product liability claim,
recall or other claim with respect to uninsured liabilities or for amounts in excess of insured liabilities could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. These liabilities also could prevent or interfere with
our product commercialization efforts. Defending a preduct liability claim, regardless of merit, could be costly, could divert
management’s attention from our business and might result in adverse publicity, which could adversely impact our business
and financial perfermance.

GENERAL

Our business could be adversely Impacted if we have deficlencies in our disclosure controls and procedures or internal
control over financlal reporting.

Our management is required to provide our shareholders a report on our internal controls over financial reporting including
an assessment of the effectiveness of these controls to provide reasonable assurance a material misstatement did not occur in
our financial statements. Our management has identified a material weakness in our intemal control over financial reporting
related to deferred tax assets and liabilities, which is discussed in ltem 9A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. As a result, our
management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2007 was not effective. While
the material weakness did not result in material changes to our consolidated financial statements for the year ended
September 30, 2007, it could have had such an effect. We have taken steps to remediate the identified material weakness and
to enhance our internal control over financial reporting.

While our management will continue to review the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and intemal
control over financial reporting, we cannot assure you that our disclosure controls and procedures or intemal control over
financial reporting will be effective in accomplishing all control objectives all of the time. Other deficiencies may accur in the
future. Such deficiencies, particularly a material weakness in internal control over financial reporting, could adversely affect our
financial results, the market price of our common stock and our reputation.

We may have to Invest a significant amount of funds over the next several years to achieve our long-term growth
objectives.

Our business will require significant funds over the next severai years. We would likely use these funds for capital
expenditures, research and development, debt service and working capital. Our Disk Drive Components Division is highly
capital intensive, Our total capital expenditures for both of our divisions were $102,239,000 in 2007, $247,754,000 in 2006
and $197,123,000 in 2005. We currently anticipate spending $75,000,000 on capital expenditures during 2008. in addition,
our total research and development expenses far both of our divisions were approximately $55,245,000, or 8% of net sales in
2007, and we expect that they will be approximately 6% of net sales in 2008. Our 2007 Disk Drive Components Division capital
expenditures and research and development expenses were primarily for additions to both TSA suspension and TSA+
suspension manufacturing capacity, tooling, facilities and new process technology and capability improvements.

Our capital expenditures for the Disk Drive Components Division are planned based on anticipated customer demand for
our suspension assembly products, market demand for disk drives, process improvements to be incorporated in our
manufacturing operations and the rate at which our customers adopt new generations of higher performance disk drives and
next-generation read,/write technology and head sizes which may require new or improved process technologies. We manage
our capitat spending to reflect the capacity that will be needed to meet disk drive industry customer forecasts, However, existing
waork in process with vendors and lengthy lead times sometimes prevent us from adjusting these capital expenditures to match
near-term demand. This can result in underutilization of capacity, which could lower gross profit. We expect to fund capital
expenditures with cash generated from operations, our current cash, cash equivalents, securities available for sale, our credit
facility or additional financing as needed.

We currently have outstanding $225,000,000 aggregate principal amount of the 3.25% Convertible Subordinated Notes
due 2026 (the “3.25% Notes") and $150,000,000 aggregate principal amount of the 2.25% Convertible Subordinated Notes
due 2010 (the “2.25% Notes”). We may pursue additional debt or equity financing or other forms of financing to supplement
our current capital resources, if needed, in 2008 and beyond. Our ability to obtain additional financing will depend upon a
number of factors, inctuding our future performance and financial results and generat economic and capital market conditions.
We may not be able to maintain adequate capital or raise additional capital on reasenable terms or at all, if needed.
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The following factors could affect our ability to obtain additional financing on favorable terms, or at all:

* our results of operations;

+ general economic conditions and conditions in the disk drive industry;
- the perception in the capital markets of our business;

- our ratio of debt to equity;

- our financial condition;

+ our business prospects; and

* changes in interest rates.

Our ability to execute our long-term strategy may depend on our ability to obtain additional long-term debt and equity
capital. We have no commitments for additional borrowings, other than our existing $50,000,000 credit facility with LaSalle
Bank National Association, or for sales of equity, other than under our existing employee benefit pians. We cannot determine
the precise amount and timing of our funding needs at this time. We may be unable to obtain additional financing on terms
acceptable to us or at all. If we fail to comply with certain covenants relating to our indebtedness, we may need to refinance our
indebtedness to repay it. We also may need to refinance our indebtedness at maturity. We may not be able to obtain additional
capital on favorable terms to refinance our indebtedness.

We may not be able to adequately protect our Intellectual property.

We attempt to protect our intellectual property rights through patents, copyrights, trade secrets and other measures. We
may not, however, be able to obtain rights to protect our technology. In addition, competitors may be able to develop similar
technology independently. Our success in the disk drive industry depends in large part on trade secrets relating to our
proprietary manufacturing processes. Our BioMeasurement Division is engaged in a market where third parties have significant
existing patent portfolios. We seek to protect trade secrets and our other proprietary technology in part by requiring each of our
employees to enter into non-disclosure, assignment and non-competition agreements. In these agreements, the employee
agrees to maintain the confidentiality of all of our proprietary information and, subject to certain exceptions, to assign to us all
rights in any proprietary information or technology made or contributed by the employee during his or her employment. In
addition, we regularly enter into non-disclosure agreements with third parties, such as consultants, strategic suppliers and
customers. These agreements may, however, be breached, and we may not have an adequate remedy for any such breach. In
addition, our competitors may otherwise learn or independently develop our trade secrets.

We believe that the patents we hold and may obtain are valuable, but that they will not independently determine our
success. Moreover, we may not receive patents for our pending patent applications, and our issued patents may not be broad
enough to protect our technology adequately. Our future technology may not be protected, and any patent issued to us may be
challenged, invalidated, circumvented or infringed. In addition, we have only limited patent rights outside the United States,
and the laws of certain foreign countries may not protect our intellectual property rights to the same extent as do the faws of the
United States.

In the past, in connection with our disk drive industry business, we have entered into licensing and cross-licensing
agreements relating to certain of our patents and patent applications allowing seme of our competitors to produce products
similar to ours in return for royalty payments and/or cross-license rights. In November 2001, we entered into cross-license
agreements with three suspension assembly suppliers, and in October 2003, we entered into an additional cross-licensing
agreement with an additional suspension assembly supplier, enabling each of them to offer customers in the disk drive industry
TSA suspension assemblies based on our proprietary technology. The agreements also include cross-licenses to certain existing
and future suspension assembly technology. Should these competitors become successful at producing TSA suspension
assembiies in high volume, our demand could be reduced and our business, financiak condition and results of operations could
be materialiy adversely affected.

We and certain users of our disk drive industry products have received, and may receive, communications from third
parties asserting patents against us or our customers that may relate to certain of our manufacturing equipment or to our
products or to products that include our products as a component. In addition, we and certain of our disk drive industry
customers have been sued on patents having claims closely refated to disk drive industry products we sell. If any third party
makes a valid infringement claim against us and we are unable to obtain a license on terms acceptable to us, our business,
financial condition and results of operations coutd be adversely affected. We expect that, as the number of patents issued in
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connection with our disk drive industry business continues to increase, the volume of intellectual property claims made against
us could increase. We may need to engage in litigation to:

- enforce patents issued or licensed to us;
+ protect trade secrets or know-how owned by us; or
- determine the enforceability, scope and validity of the intellectual property rights of others,

We have litigated claims against a competitive disk drive industry supplier alleging infringement of our patents. We could
incur substantial costs in other such litigation or gther similar legal actions, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, frequent and extensive litigation and administrative proceedings over patent and other intellectual property
rights are hallmarks of the medical technofogy industry, and this litigation is expensive, complex and lengthy, and its outcome is
difficult to predict. Medical technology patent litigation may result in significant royalty or other payments or injunctions that may
prevent the sale of our product and significantly divert the attention of our BioMeasurement Division technical and management
personnel. We cannot be certain that we will successfully defend our patents from infringement or claims of invalidity or
unenforceability, or that we will successfully defend against allegations of infringement of third-party patents.

We have been named as a defendant in, and are the subject of, certain legal proceedings which may result in substantial
costs and divert management's attention and resources.

As described in “Legal Proceedings” below, a federal securities class action suit was filed naming our company and
certain of our officers and directors as co-defendants. The suit was dismissed with prejudice by the district court and the
dismissal has been appealed to the federal appellate court where it remains pending. A related derivative action also was filed
naming our company, as a nominal defendant, all of our present directors and one of our officers as co-defendants, but it was
dismissed without prejudice in April 2006. We were informed on May 2, 2007, that the SEC has ¢pened an investigation into
possible federal securities law violations by our company, our officers, directors, employees and others, during 2005 and 2006.
The investigation includes the matters alleged in the federal securities class action litigation described above. We do not know
when or how the investigation might be concluded. We are not able to predict the ultimate outcome of the litigation or
investigation.

As described in “Legal Proceedings™ below, we have also been named as a defendant in a class action suit brought by
curmrent and former production workers. It is possible that any of these matters could be resolved adversely to us, could result in
substantial costs and could divert management's attention and resources, which could harm our business.

Risks associated with legal liability often are difficult to assess or guantify and their existence and magnitude can remain
unknown for significant periods of time. While we maintain director and officer insurance, the amount of insurance coverage
may not be sufficient to cover a claim and the continued availability of this insurance cannot be assured. We may in the future
be the target of additional proceedings, and these proceedings may resuit in substantial costs and divert management's
attention and resources.

Significant judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes, our deferred tax assets and liabilities and
any valuation allowance recorded agalnst our deferred tax assets, and any difference between our estimates and actual
results In those areas could adversely Impact our financial position and results of operations.

Estimates of our income tax provision, our deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valuation aliowance recorded against
our net deferred tax assets are subject to uncertainty due to the use of estimates, significant management judgment and
possible examination by applicable jurisdictions. Valuation allowances arise due to the uncertainty of realizing the benefits of
certain tax credits and net operating loss (“NOL"} carryforwards before they expire, and are based on our historical taxabie
income and our estimates of future taxable income in each jurisdiction in which we operate. At September 30, 2007 and
September 24, 2006 we had valuation allowances of $6,827,000 and $5,267,000, respectively, related primarily to certain
tax credits and the uncertainty of realizing these benefits before they expire due to certain limitations, In the event that actual
results differ from estimates, our financial position and resufts of operations could be negatively impacted.

Item 2. Propertles

We own four buildings on a site of approximately 163 acres in Hutchinson, Minnesota used by both our Disk Drive
Components Division and our BioMeasurement Division. This site includes executive offices and a manufacturing plant,
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development center and training center, with an aggregate of approximately 753,000 square feet of floor area. We currently
utilize approximately 95% of this space. We also lease a 20,000 square foot warehouse and a 7,200 square foot fabrication
shop near the Hutchinson site. The training center building is cumently ieased to another party.

We own a manufacturing plant in Eau Claire, Wisconsin used by our Disk Drive Components Division, which is
approximately 858,000 square feet, approximately 90% of which we currently utilize.

We own a manufacturing plant in Sioux Falls, South Dakota of approximately 300,000 square feet that is used by our Disk
Drive Components Division, approximately 85% of which we currently utilize. Approximately 12% of the square footage in this
plant is currently leased to another party.

We lease a building of approximately 100,000 square feet focated in Plymouth, Minnesota that is used by our Disk Drive
Components Division for stamping operations and office space, approximately 95% of which we curently utilize, and we lease
approximately 48,000 square feet of warehouse space located in Brooklyn Park, Minnesota.

We lease a business office in the Netherdands used by our BioMeasurement Division. Through our wholly-owned
subsidiaries, we afso lease offices used by our Disk Drive Components Division for customer service and support in Japan,
Korea, the People’s Republic of China and Thailand.

We believe that our existing facilities will be adequate to meet our currently anticipated reguirements for 2008,

Item 3. Legal Proceedings
Securitles Litigation

Our company and six of our present executive officers, two of whem are directors, were named as defendants in a
consolidated complaint fited by several investors in the U.S. District Court for the District of Minnesota on May 1, 2006. The
consolidated complaint purported to be brought on behalf of a class of all persons (except defendants) who purchased our
stock in the open market between Qctober 4, 2004 and August 29, 2005 (the “class period”). The consolidated complaint
alleged that the defendants made false and misleading public statements about our company, and our business and
prospects, in press releases and SEC filings during the class period, and that the market price of our stock was artificially
inflated as a result. The consolidated complaint alleged ciaims under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act. The
consolidated complaint sought compensatory damages on behalf of the alleged class in an unspecified amount, interest, an
award of attomeys’ fees and costs of litigation, and unspecified equitable/injunctive relief.

Defendants moved to dismiss the consolidated complaint. By Memorandum Gpinion and Order filed on June 4, 2007, the
District Court granted defendants’ motion and dismissed the consolidated complaint with prejudice. Plaintiffs appealed the
dismissal to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit, and the appeal remains pending. We do not know when the Court of
Appeals will decide the appeal, or how it might rule.

We believe that we, and the other defendants, have meritorious defenses to the claims made in the consolidated
complaint, and we intend to contest the lawsuit vigorously. We are not able to predict the ultimate outcome of this litigation, but
it may be costly and disruptive. The totat costs cannot be reasenably estimated at this time. Securities class action litigation can
result in substantial costs and divert our management’s attention and resources, which may have a material adverse effect on
our business and resuits of operations, including our cash flows.

Other Litigation and Proceedings

Our company was named as the defendant in a complaint brought in Hennepin County, Minnesota, District Court by two
cument and three former employees and served on us on August 28, 2006. On behalf of a class of cument and former non-
exempt production workers employed by us in Minnesota, the complaint asserts claims based on the federal Fair Labor
Standards Act, several statutes and regulations dealing with topics related to wages and breaks, and common law theories, and
alleges that we fail to pay our production workers for the time they spend changing into and out of protective clothing and that
we do not provide employees the breaks allegedly required by Minnesota law or promised by company policy. On September 18,
2006, we removed the action to the U.S. District Court for the District of Minnesota. The complaint seeks pay for the allegedly
unpaid time, an equal amount of liquidated damages, other damages, penalties, attomeys’ fees and interest. The parties have
agreed to engage in mediation now scheduled for December 4 and 5, 2007. We are not able to predict the ultimate outcome of
the litigation, but it may be costly and disruptive.
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We were informed on May 2, 2007 that the SEC has opened an investigation into possible federal securities law violations
by our company, our officers, directors, employees and others, during 2005 and 2006. The investigation includes the matters
alleged in the federal securities class action litigation described above. We do not know when or how the investigation might be
concluded, We are not able to predict the ultimate outcome of the securities class action litigation or the SEC investigation. Itis
possible that these matters could be resolved adversely to us, could result in substantial costs and could divert management's
attention and resources, which could harm our business.

We and certain users of our products have from time to time received, and may in the future receive, communications from
third parties asserting patents against us or our customers which may relate to certain of our manufacturing equipment or
products or to products that include our products as a component. In addition, certain of our customers have been sued on
patents having claims closely related to products sold by us. If any third party makes a valid infringement claim and a license
were not available on terms acceptable to us, our operating results could be adversely affected. We expect that, as the number
of patents issued continues to increase, and as we grow, the volume of inteliectual property claims could increase. We may
need to engage in litigation to enforce patents issued or licensed to us, protect trade secrets or know-how owned by us or
determine the enforceability, scope and validity of the intellectual propesty rights of others. We could incur substantial costs in
such litigation or other similar legal actions, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

We are a party to certain claims arising in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of our management, the outcome
of such claims will not materially affect our current or future financial position or results of operations.

Iltem 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Securily Holders

None.

Item X. Executive Officers of the Registrant

Our executive officers are as follows:

Name Age Pasition

Rebecca A. Albrecht . ................ 54 Vice President of Human Resources

Kevin D. Bjork ............ .. ... ... 48 Vice President of Quality

Wayne M. Fortun. ............ ... ... 58 President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

Beatrice A Graczyk . . . .......... ..., 59 Vice President of Business Development

Jeffrey W, Green . . ........... ... ... 67 Chairman of the Board and Director

Jobn A.Ingleman . ........ .. . il 61 Senior Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer

Richard ). Penn ............ .. .. ... 61 Senior Vice President and President of the
BioMeasurement Division

R. Scott Schaefer . .. ............. ... 54 Vice President and Chief Technical Officer

Vice President and President of the Disk Drive
Components Division

Kathleen S. Skarvan

Ms. Albrecht was elected Vice President in January 1995 and is now Vice President of Human Resources. Ms. Albrecht
has been with HTI since 1983.

Mr. Bjork was elected Vice President in December 2004. Mr. Bjork was Director of Corporate Quality at HTI fram April 2002
through November 2004, and was Director of Quality for our Disk Drive Components Division from April 1997 through March
2002. Mr. Bjork has been with HTI since 1982,

Mr. Fortun was elected President and Chief Operating Officer in 1983, Chief Executive Officer in May 1996, and is now
President and Chief Executive Officer. He has served as a director since 1983. He is also a director of G&K Services, Inc. and
C.H. Robinson Worldwide, Inc. Mr. Fortun has been with HTI since 1975.

Ms. Graczyk was elected Vice President in May 1990, was Vice President of Operations and Chief Operating Officer from
March 1999 to October 2003, and has been Vice President of Business Development since October 2003. Ms. Graczyk has
been with HTI since 1970.
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Mr. Green is one of our co-founders and has served as a director since our formation in 1965. Mr. Green has been
Chairman of the Board since January 1983, and served as our Chief Executive Officer from January 1983 to May 1996.

Mr. Ingleman was elected Senior Vice President in November 2006, Vice President in January 1982, Chief Financial
Officer in January 1988, and served as Secretary from January 1992 unti! November 2003. Mr. Ingleman has been with HTI
since 1977.

Mr. Penn was elected Senior Vice President and President of the BioMeasurement Division in April 2007. Mr. Penn was
elected Vice President of Sales and Marketing in January 1996, was Vice President of Operations from October 2003 to
November 2005, and was Senior Vice President and President of the Disk Drive Components Division from November 2005 to
April 2007. Mr. Penn has been with HTI since 1981.

Mr. Schaefer was elected Vice President in May 1990 and is now Vice President and Chief Technical Officer. Mr. Schaefer
has been with HTl since 1979.

Ms. Skarvan was elected Vice President and President of the Disk Drive Components Division in April 2007. Ms. Skarvan
was initially elected Vice President of Sales and Marketing in October 2003, and was the Vice President of Sales and Marketing,
Disk Drive Components Division, from November 2005 to April 2007. Ms. Skarvan was a strategic business unit director at HTI
from September 2002 to October 2003, and a Group Vice President at Phillips Plastics, a manufacturing company, from March
2000 to August 2002. Ms. Skarvan joined HTl in 1980 and held management positions in manufacturing, human resources,
communications and materials at HTl between 1985 and 2000,

Executive officers are elected annually by the Board of Directors and serve a one-year period or until their successors are
elected.

None of the above executive officers is related to each other or to any of our directors.

PART 1l

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

Market Information

Our common stock, $.01 par value, trades on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol HTCH. For price
information regarding our common stock, see Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements contained in Item 15. As of
November 28, 2007, gur common stock was held by 587 shareholders of record.

Dividends

We have never paid any cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain all eamings for use in our
business and do not anticipate paying cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Any future determination as to payment of
dividends will depend upon our financial condition and results of aperations and such other factors as are deemed relevant by
our Board of Directors,

We have a loan agreement that contains a covenant limiting, among other things, our ability to pay cash dividends or
make other distributions. See ltem 7, “Management’'s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resources,” and Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements contained in ltem 15,
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Performance Graph

Set forth below is a graph comparing, for a period of five fiscal years ended September 30, 2007, the yearly cumulative
total shareholder return on aur common stock with the yearly cumulative total shareholder retumn of the S&P 500 Index and the
AMEX Disk Drive Index. The comparison of total shareholder returns assumes that $100 was invested on October 1, 2002 in
each of our company, the S&P 500 Index and the AMEX Disk Drive Index, and that dividends were reinvested when and as paid.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The selected financial data required pursuant to this ltem appears on page 64 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ltem 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the
selected historical consolidated financial data and consolidated financial statements and notes thereto appearing elsewhere in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

General

Since the late 1980s, we have derived virtually all of our revenue from the sale of suspension assemblies to a small
number of customers. We currently supply a variety of suspension assemblies and suspension assembly components to nearly
all domestic and foreign-based manufacturers of disk drives and head-gimbal assemblers for all sizes of disk drives.
Suspension assemblies are a critical component of disk drives, and our results of operations are highly dependent on the disk
drive industry. The disk drive industry is Intensely competitive, and demand for disk drive components fluctuates. Qur resuits of
operations are affected from time to time by disk drive industry demand changes, adjustments in inventory levels throughout
the disk drive supply chain, technological changes that impact suspension assembly demand, shifts in our market position and
our customers’ market position, our customers’ production yields and our own product transitions, production yields and
production capacity utilization. Our BioMeasurement Division is engaged in the development, production and marketing of
products for the medical device market. We do not expect to generate significant revenue from the InSpectra $t0, System
during 2008 and anticipate an operating toss for this division.
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For calendar 2007 storage industry analysts expect disk drive shipments to reach 480 mitlion units, an increase of about
10% from calendar 2006. The growth in disk drive shipments is resulting from increased demand for data storage in traditional
computing applications, as well as in consumer electronics applications. Qur shipments of suspension assemblies in 2007
were 865 million, 7% higher than our shipments in 2006. This increase was due to our fiscal year 2007 having 53 weeks and
the year-over-year increase in disk drive shipments.

For calendar year 2008, storage industry analysts are forecasting unit shipments of disk drives to increase by at least
10%. This growth in disk drive shipments will, in tumn, continue to generate growth in demand for suspension assemblies. We
expect that our share in the desktop segment, the largest segment of the market, will continue to decline as certain programs for
which we are a major supplier approach the end of their market lives. We expect to counter this decline somewhat by further
increasing our share in the faster growing mobile segment and continuing our strong leadership position in the enterprise
computing segment.

The following table sets forth our recent quarterly suspension assembly shipment quantities in millions for the periods
indicated:

2006 by Quarter ) 2007 by Quarter
First Second Third Fourth First Second Third Fourth

Suspension assembly shipment quantities. . 207 205 192 201 225 205 190 246

The decrease in suspension assembly shipments from the second quarter to the third quarter of 2006 resulted, we
believe, from seasonally slower demand for disk drives used in desktop applications and certain head-gimbal assemblers and
disk drive manufacturers managing existing inventories. We believe the increase in the fourth quarter of 2006 and the first
quarter of 2007 reflects a seasonal improvement in the desktop and mobile disk drive segments and growth in the consumer
electronics disk drive segment. The decrease in the second quarter of 2007 was primarily due to weaker demand for
suspension assemblies used in desktop {more specifically, 3.5-inch ATA} disk drives. The decrease in the third quarter of 2007
was primarily due to continued share loss for our suspension assemblies used in 3.5-inch ATA disk drives and seasonally slower
demand. The 3.5-inch ATA segment share loss was partially offset as we continued to improve our position in the faster growing,
but smaller, mobile segment of the disk drive market. Our fourth quarter of 2007 shipments increased due to seasonally strong
demand for disk drives, our fiscal quarter having fourteen weeks and our continued market share gains in the mobile segment of
the disk drive market. We continue to have limited visibility for future demand.

Our selling prices are subject to market pressure from our competitors and pricing pressure from our customers. Disk drive
manufacturers are increasingly seeking lower cost designs and suspension assembly pricing is becoming more competitive. In
2007 we competed aggressively to supply suspension assemblies for disk drive programs that are nearing the end of their
market lives, and we will continue to do so. While we produce suspension assemblies for these mature products very efficiently,
our average selling price for these mature products is below the overall average selling price for all of our suspension
assemblies. Qurselling prices also are affected by changes in overall demand for our products, changes in the specific products
our customers buy and a product’s life cycle. A typical life cycle for our products begins with higher pricing when products are
introduced and decreasing prices as they mature. To offset price decreases during a product’s life, we rely primarily on higher
sales volume and improving our manufacturing yields and efficiencies to reduce our cost. If we cannot increase our sales
volume or reduce our manufacturing costs as prices decline during our products’ life cycles, our business, financial condition
and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.

In 2006, our average selling price held about flat with our 2005 average selling price as a result of lower program pricing of
certain high-volume suspension assemblies, offset by suspension assemblies that include higher priced value-added features
such as dual stage actuation, clad unamount arms, plated grounds, electrostatic protection measures, formed and polished
headlifts, a variety of limiter configurations, dampers and laminated loadbeams. In 2007, our average selling price declined 5%
from our average selling price at the end of 2006 primarily due to a sales mix that included a higher percentage of suspension
assemblies for mature disk drive programs. Customers extended the lives of certain mature disk drive programs, and we
competed aggressively on these programs. The average selling price is typically lower on suspension assemblies for mature disk
drive programs as higher cumulative volumes trigger lower price points and the competitive pressure increases as our
competitors’ abilities to manufacture these products improves. We expect our 2008 average selling price to remain relatively
flat compared to 2007,
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We typically allow customers to change or cancel orders on short notice. We plan our production and inventory based
primarily on forecasts of customer demand, including forecasts of customer pulls of product out of our VM facilities. Certain
agreements with our customers also provide that we maintain minimum finished goods inventory levels for them.

Our customers often prefer a multiple source supply strategy and, therefore, may allocate their demand among suppiiers.
Both customer demand and the resulting forecasts often fluctuate substantially. These factors, among others, create an
environment where scheduled production and capacity utilization can vary significantly from week to week, leading to variability
in gross margins and difficulty in estimating our position in the marketplace.

Our gross margins have fluctuated and will continue to fluctuate based upon a variety of factors such as changes in:

- demand or customer requirements;

- utilization of existing or newly added production capacity;

- manufacturing vields or efficiencies;

- product and feature mix;

- selling prices,

- production and engineering costs associated with production of new products and features; and
- costs of materials.

Gross margin in 2006 was 20%, down from 28% in 2005, due to higher depreciation and overhead expense coupled with
underutilization of manufacturing equipment as we added capacity throughout the year. The negative impact of the
underutilization was somewhat mitigated by improvements in yields and labor productivity. In 2007, gross margin was
17% primarily due to higher manufacturing overhead expense coupted with continued underutilization of manufacturing
equipment, which was somewhat offset by improvements in labor productivity and yields.

During the third quarter of 2007, we eliminated approximately 500 positions in our workforce, including manufacturing
and manufacturing support, administrative and development positions at all plant sites. The workforce reduction resulted in a
charge for severance expenses of $6,151,000, which was fully paid during the fourth quarter of 2007. We also recorded a
charge of $2,577,000 for the write-off of design costs for a cancelled facility expansion. We estimate that these cost-reduction
actions will result in annualized savings of approximately $35,000,000. Qur 2008 profitability will continue to benefit from
these cost reductions, but capacity utilization and leverage of fixed costs will continue to be key to improving gross margin.

Our suspension assembly business is capital intensive. For 2006, capital expenditures for the year totaled
$247,754,000, primarily for additions to both TSA suspension and TSA+ suspension manufacturing capacity, facilities
and tooling and for new process technology equipment. In November 20086, we campleted an expansion at our manufacturing
facility located in Eau Claire, Wisconsin by adding a production bay with an above-ground footprint of approximately
70,000 square feet to accommodate a volume TSA+ suspension production line. For 2007 our capital expenditures were
$102,239,000, primarily for TSA+ suspension production capacity, new program tooling and deployment of new process
technology and capability improvements. Capital spending for 2008 is currently expected to be approximately $75,000,000.

Our capital expenditures for the Disk Drive Components Division are planned based on anticipated customer demand for
our suspension assembly products, market demand for disk drives, process improvements to be incorporated in our
manufacturing operations and the rate at which our customers adopt new generations of higher performance disk drives and
next-generation read/write technology and head sizes which may require new or improved process technologies. We manage
our capital spending to reflect the capacity that we expect will be needed to meet disk drive industry customer forecasts.
However, existing work in process with vendors and lengthy lead times sometimes prevent us from adjusting capital
expenditures to match near-term demand. This can result in underutilization of capacity, which could lower gross profit.
We expect to fund capital expenditures with cash generated from operations, our cument cash, cash equivalents, securities
availabte for sale, our credit facility or additional financing as needed.

We spent $55,245,000 on research and development in 2007 compared to $52,939,000 in 2006. In 2007, we
continued development of the additive processes required for our TSA+ suspension assemblies and development of new
process technologies for next-generation suspension assembly products and equipment. Research and development spending
specific to our BioMeasurement Division was $4,207,000 in 2007 and $6,249,000 in 2006. BioMeasurement Division
spending was lower in 2007 primarily due to decreased product devetlopment and clinical research during the year. We expect
our research and development spending in 2008 will be approximately 6% of net sales, down from 8% In 2007.
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The disk drive industry is intensely competitive, and our customers’ operating results are dependent on being the first-to-
market and first-to-volume with new products at a low cost. Our development efforts typically enable us to shorten development
cycles and achieve high-volume output per manufacturing unit more quickly than our competitors, and are an impaortant factor
in our success. The development of next-generation read/write technology and head sizes will require finer electrical conductors
on the suspension assembly. Qur current TSA suspensions are produced using a subtractive process, and we continue to invest
in extending our current process capabilities and adding associated capital equipment for manufacturing TSA suspension
assemblies to meet escalating customer requirements for precision and performance.

We have also developed an additive process and added associated capital equipment for producing TSA+ suspension
assemblies. Additive processing involves depositing thin metal layers onto a polyimide surface in the shape of the desired
circuitry and then imaging and plating up metal layers to form the suspension’s electrical conductors. We are working with
multiple customers on TSA+ suspensions for their next-generation disk drive programs. We have completed installation of a
volume TSA+ suspension production line, and we are preparing our TSA+ operations for higher volume. We expect the transition
to TSA+ suspensions to take place over the next five to seven years, with the pace of transition determined primarily by the pace
at which disk drive makers introduce and ramp production of programs requiring additive processing. As a result, we do not
expect to generate significant revenue from this product during 2008. We are also purchasing some additive components to fill
other existing customer development requirements.

As we transition TSA+ suspension assemblies from development to high-volume manufacturing, we may experience
higher cost due to yield loss, production inefficiencies and equipment problems. Furthermore, our additive processing
capability is added in large blocks of capacity, and certain equipment will therefore be underutilized until demand develops. If
our development of additive process capabilities is delayed for any reason or if TSA+ suspension assemblies cannot be
produced profitably in the quantities and to the specifications required by our customers, we may continue to purchase additive
components.

New manufacturing processes for advanced suspension assembly features and suspension assembly typés, such as
those cumrently under development, initially have lower manufacturing yields than those for more mature products and
processes. Manufacturing yields generally improve as the process and product mature and production volumes increase.
Manufacturing yields also vary depending on the complexity and uniqueness of products. Small variations in manufacturing
yields can have a significant impact on gross margins.

In addition to increases in suspensicn assembly demand, improvements to our gross margins and operating margins will
depend, in part, on the successful management of our corporate infrastructure and our suspension assembly production
capacity. Our business is capital intensive and requires a high level of fixed costs. Our margins are sensitive to our level of fixed
costs, as well as changes in volume, capacity utilization and product mix. As part of our efforts to improve our operating results,
we eliminated approximately 500 positions during the third quarter of 2007. In the future, we may need to increase or decrease
our overall employment level to meet customer requirements. Our overall employment level was 5,310 at the end of 2005,
5,433 atthe end of 2006 and 4,698 at the end of 2007. In 2005, we also had 148 production workers supplied by temporary
staffing agencies,

Market Trends

We expect that the expanding use of enterprise computing and storage, desktop and mobile computers, increasingly
complex software and the growth of new applications for disk storage, such as personal video recorders and portable video
players, together with emerging opportunities in other consumer electronics applications, will increase disk drive demand and,
therefore, suspension assembly demand in the future. We also believe demand for disk drives will continue to be subject, as it
has in the past, to rapid or unforeseen changes resulting from, among other things, changes in disk drive inventory levels,
technological advances, responses to competitive price changes, unpredicted high or fow market acceptance of new drive
models and the end devices that disk drives are used in. In addition, disk drive manufacturers are increasingly seeking lower
cost designs and suspension assembly pricing is becoming more competitive.

As in past years, disk drives continue to be the primary storage device of choice for applications requiring shorter access
times and higher capacities because of their speed and low cost per gigabyte of stored data. The cost of storing data on disk
drives continues to decrease primarily due to increasing data density, thereby increasing storage capacity in disk drives or
reducing the number of compaonents, including suspension assemblies, required in a disk drive. The continual pursuit of
increased data density and lower storage costs is leading to suspension assemblies with finer electrical conductars and further
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adoption of value-added features for suspension assemblies, such as clad unamount arms, plated grounds, electrostatic
protection measures, formed and polished headlifts, a variety of limiter configurations, dampers, laminated loadbeams and
dual stage actuation,

The development of next-generation read/write technology and head sizes, cantinuing improvement in data density and
the use of disk drives in consumer electronics applications will require even finer electrical conductors on the suspension
assembly. Next-generation disk drives also may require additional electrical conductors. We are investing significantly in
developing the process capabilities and related capital equipment required to meet new industry specifications in 2008 and
beyond.

The introduction of new types or sizes of read/write heads and disk drives may initially decrease our customers’ yields with
the result that we may experience temporary elevations of demand for some types of suspension assemblies. For example, we
believe reduced yields for some of our customers due to their transition to higher density read/ write heads resulted in increased
shipments of our suspension assemblies in 2003 and the first half of 2004. As programs mature, higher customer yields
decrease the demand for suspension assemblies. The advent of new heads and new drive designs may require rapid
development and impiementation of new suspension assembly types, which may temporarily increase our development
spending and reduce our manufacturing yields and efficiencies. These changes will continue to affect us.

2007 Operations to 2006 Operations

The following table sets forth our consolidated statements of operations as a percentage of net sales from period to
period.
Percentage of Net Sales
2007 2006 2005

T 11 O 100% 100% 100%
Costof Sales. . ... 83 80 712
Gross PIOfit. . . ..ot e e 17 20 28
Research and development eXPeNSES . . . ..ot vttt e e 8 7 6
Selling, genera! and administrative XpeNnses. . ....... v vr e i it 11 12 13
Severance and Other eXpenses . ... .. . i e e e 1 - -
Dispute seftlement. . . . ... ... e e e = _-
income (loss) fromoperations . ... ... ... (3) 2 9
=T 1 Tv10] 13T 1 = A I 2 2
Interest INCOME (BXPENSE) . - . . . oot e e e i e 1 1y _-=
Income (loss) before income taxes. .. ... or it e (1} 3 11
Provision (benefit) for income taxes . ... ... ... . i i 2 - 2
NEtINCOME . . . ottt e e 1% 3% _ 9%

Net sales for 2007 were $716,103,000, compared to $721,507,000 for 2008, a decrease of $5,404,000. Suspension
assembly sales increased $9,627,000 compared to 2006, primarily as a result of our 2007 fiscal year calendar having
53 weeks and a 7% increase in suspension assembly unit shipments partially offset by a 5% lower average selling price year-
over-year, The increase in suspension assembly unit shipments in 2007 was primarily due to an increase in disk drive
shipments. The year-over-year decline in average selling price resulted primarily from a sales mix that included a higher
percentage of suspension assemblies for mature disk drive programs. Customers extended the lives of certain mature disk drive
programs, and we competed aggressively on these programs. The average selling price is typically lower on suspension
assemblies for mature disk drive programs as higher cumulative volumes trigger lower prices. Sales of suspension assembly
components to other suspension assembly manufacturers decreased $13,439,000, or 43%, compared to 2006 due to
decreased shipments as our customers’ programs utilizing our components near the end of their market lives.

Gross profit for 2007 was $122,241,000, compared to $144,900,000 for 2006, a decrease of $22,669,000. Gross
profit as a percent of net sales was 17% in 2007 compared to 20% in 2006. The lower gross profit in 2007 was primarily due to
a $17,2565,000 increase in manufacturing overhead expense compared to 2006, coupled with underutilization of
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manufacturing equipment. The negative impact of the underutilization was somewhat offset by improvements in labor
productivity and yields.

Research and development expenses for 2007 were $55,245,000, compared to $52,939,000 for 2006, an increase of
$2,306,000. The increased research and development expenses were due to a $5,481,000 increase in labor expenses
resulting from hiring additional personnel to support increased customer-specific suspension assembly development efforts
and to develop process technologies for next-generation products, and $2,642,000 of higher customer program development
expenses and depreciation expenses. These were partially offset by $6,838,000 of lower purchased supplies expenses and
professional services expenses, primarily related to both TSA+ process development in our Disk Drive Components Division and
product development in our BioMeasurement Division. Research and development expenses as a percent of net sales were 8%
in 2007 and 7% in 2006.

Selling, general and administrative expenses for 2007 were $76,943,000, compared to $84,191,000 for 2006, a
decrease of $7,248,000. The lower selling, general and administrative expenses were primarily due to $2,775,000 of lower
incentive compensation expenses, $2,585,000 of lower depreciation and lease expenses, $2,342,000 of lower labor
expenses in the Disk Drive Components Division due to a decrease in the number of personnel and $1,567,000 of lower
purchased supplies expenses. These were partially offset by a $3,128,000 increase in labor expenses for our BioMeasurement
Division primarily due to added sales personnel. Selling, general and administrative expenses as a percent of net sales
decreased from 12% in 2006 to 11% in 2007.

During the third quarter of 2007, we recorded charges of $8,728,000 comprised of severance expenses for approximately
500 positions eliminated during the quarter and the write-off of design costs for a cancelled facility expansion. The workforce
reduction resulted in a charge for severance expenses of $6,151,000, which was fully paid in 2007. The positions eliminated
included manufacturing and manufacturing support, administrative and development positions at all plant sites. The write-off of
design costs for the cancelled facility expansion amounted to $2,577,000.

During the third quarter of 2006, we recorded an increase to operating income of $5,000,000 as a result of the resolution
of a dispute with a former supplier. The full amount was paid to us in 2006.

Loss from operations for 2007 was $18,675,000, compared to income from operations of $12,770,000 for 2006, a
decrease of $31,445,000. The fower operating income was due to lower gross profit, severance expenses and the write-off of
facility design costs, the dispute settlement income from the third quarter of 2006 and higher research and development
expenses, partially offset by the lower selling, general and administrative expenses discussed above. Loss from operations for
2007 included a $17,584,000 loss from operations for our BioMeasurement Division compared to a $14,764,000 loss for
2006.

Other income, net of other expenses, for 2007 was $4,061,000, compared to $5,683,000 in 2006, a decrease of
$1,622,000. Other income consists primarily of royalty income.

Interest income for 2007 was $15,414,000, compared to $12,762,000 for 2006, an increase of $2,662,000. The
increase in interest income was primarily due to higher investment yields and higher average cash and marketable securities
balances.

Interest expense for 2007 was $10,433,000, compared to $7,333,000 for 2006, an increase of $3,100,000. The
increase in interest expense for 2007 was primarily due to a higher average debt balance and debt issuance costs, and lower
capitalized interest.

The income tax benefit for 2007 was $16,898,000, or an estimated annual effective tax rate of 175%. The pre-tax loss for
2007 resulted in a statutory tax benefit of $3,276,000. The income tax benefit was increased by the cument year research and
development tax credit and the Foreign Sales Corporation (“FSC”) repeal and Extratemitorial Income Exclusion Act of 2000
(“EIE™) provisions related to the export of U.S. products.

The income tax benefit for 2007 includes reductions for discrete items, including a benefit of $8,108,000 for the
comptetion of a research and development tax credit study which identified additional qualified research expenditures from
prior years, $3,945,000 due to a favorable Intemal Revenue Service private letter ruling resulting in the release of centain
valuation allowances and a benefit from the reinstatement of the federal research and development tax credit retroactive to
January 1, 2006.
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The tax provision for 2006 was $3,406,000, or an estimated annual effective tax rate of 14%. The tax provision was
reduced by the benefit derived from the FSC repeal and EIE provisions related to the export of U.S. products and the research
and development tax credit.

Netincome for 2007 was $7,265,000, compared to net income of $20,476,000 for 2006, a decrease of $13,211,000.
The lower net income was due to lower gross profit, severance expenses and the write-off of facility design costs, the dispute
settlement income from the third quarter of 2006 and higher research and devetopment expenses. This was partially offset by
the income tax benefit and lower selling, general and administrative expenses discussed above.

2006 Operations to 2005 Operations

Net sales for 2006 were $721,507,000, compared to $631,581,000 for 2005, an increase of $89,926,000, or 14%.
Suspension assembly sales increased $73,354,000, or 12%, compared to 2005, primarily as a result of a 12% increase in
suspension assembly unit shipments. The increase in suspension assembly unit shipments was due to an increase in disk drive
shipments year over year. Sales of suspension assembly components to other suspension assembly manufacturers increased
$12,320,000, or 64%, compared to 2005.

Gross profit for 2006 was $144,900,000, compared to $174,851,000 for 2005. The increase in net sales discussed
above was more than offset by increased manufacturing overhead expense of $119,877,000, compared to 2005, to support
the higher level of shipments during the year and added manufacturing capacity. Gross profit as a percent of net sales was 20%
in 2006 compared to 28% in 2005. Gross margin in 2006 was negatively impacted by higher depreciation and overhead
expense coupled with underutilization of manufacturing equipment as we added capacity. The negative impact of the
underutilization was somewhat offset by improvements in yields and labor productivity.

Resqarch and development expenses for 2006 were $52,939,000, compared to $36,829,000 for 2005. The increased
research and development expenses were due to an $8,925,000 increase in development and purchased supplies to develop
an additive process to be used to produce our TSA+ suspension assemblies, a $2,707,000 increase in labor expenses
resulting from hiring additional personnel to support increased customer-specific suspension assembly development efforts
and to develop process technologies for next-generation products, and a $2,172,000 increase in expenses for our
BioMeasurement Division, primarily for product and process development for the InSpectra $t0, System. Research and
development expenses as a percent of net sales were 7% in 2006 and 6% in 2005.

Selling, general and administrative expenses for 2006 were $84,191,000, compared to $80,641,000 for 2005, Seiling,
general and administrative expenses included $7,165,000 in higher labor expenses, a $2,708,000 increase in expenses for
our BioMeasurement Division and $2,083,000 in higher professional services expenses. These were offset by $7,746,000 in
lower incentive compensation expenses and $1,769,000 in lower supply expenses. Selling, general and administrative
expenses as a percent of net sales decreased from 13% in 2005 to 12% in 2006.

During the third quarter of 2006, we recorded an increase to operating income of $5,000,000 as a result ¢f the resolution
of a dispute with a former supplier.

income from operations for 2006 was $12,770,000, compared to $57,381,000 for 2005. The lower operating income
was primarily due to lower gross profit and higher research and development expenses, partially offset by the dispute
settlement discussed above. Income from operations for 2006 included a $14,764,000 loss from operations for our
BioMeasurement Division segment, compared to an $8,688,000 loss for 2005.

Other income, net of other expenses, for 2006 was $5,683,000, compared to $4,795,000 in 2005. Other income
consists primarily of royalty income.

Interest income for 2006 was $12,762,000, compared to $7,738,000 for 2005, an increase of $5,024,000. This was a
result of higher investment yields and higher average cash balances.

Interest expense for 2006 was $7,333,000, compared to $2,132,000 for 2005, an increase of $5,201,000, primarily
due to our sale and issuance of the 3.25% Notes during the second quarter of 2006,

The income tax provisions for 2006 and 2005 resulted in estimated annual effective tax rates of 14% and 19%,
respectively. These rates are below the statutory federal rate primarily due to our estimate of the benefit derived from the

28




Foreign Sales Corporation (“FSC") Repeal and Extraterritonial Income Exclusion Act of 2000 (*EIE™) provisions related to export
of U.S. products.

During the third quarter of 2005, a court awarded us a refund, with interest, of certain Minnesota corporate income taxes
paid for the years 1995 through 1999, As a result of the court’s decision, we also reversed a related tax contingency reserve.
These items were partially offset by an adjustment to the carrying value of future tax benefits on certain NOL carryforwards.
These items resulted in a net income tax benefit of $1,676,000 for 2005. During 2006, we were also awarded a refund, with
interest, of certain state income taxes paid for the years 1991 through 1993. The 2006 and 2005 annual effective tax rates
include these tax refunds and related tax contingency reserve adjustments.

Net income for 2006 was $20,476,000, or 3% of net sates, compared to net income of $54,881,000, or 9% of net sales,
for 2005.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Qur principal sources of liquidity are cash and cash equivalents, securities available for sale, cash flow from operations
and additional financing capacity. Qur cash and cash equivalents increased from $40,331,000 at September 24, 2006 to
$64,509,000 at September 30, 2007. Qur securities available for sale decreased from $250,110,000 to $233,043,000
during the same period. Overall, this reflects a $7,111,000 increase in our cash and cash equivalents and securities available
forsale, primarily due to $102,790,000 of cash generated from operations and $7,709,000 in net proceeds from issuances of
our common stock for stock options exercised and our employee stock purchase plan during 2007. This was partially offset by
capital expenditures of $102,239,000.

In January 2006, we issued $225,000,000 aggregate principal amount of the 3.25% Notes. The 3.25% Notes were
issued pursyant to an Indenture dated as of January 25, 2006 (the “Indenture”) between us and LaSalle Bank National
Association, as trustee. Interest an the 3.25% Notes-is payable on January 15 and July 15 of each year, beginning on July 15,
2006.

We have the right to redeem for cash all or a portion of the 3.25% Notes on or after January 21, 2011 at specified
redemption prices, as provided in the Indenture, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the applicable
redemption date. Holders of the 3.25% Notes may require us to purchase all or a portion of their 3.25% Notes for cash on
Janvary 15, 2013, January 15, 2016 and January 15, 2021, ar in the event of a fundamental change, at a purchase price
equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 3.25% Notes to be repurchased plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but
excluding, the purchase date.

Under certain circumstances, holders of the 3.25% Notes may convert their 3.25% Notes based on a conversion rate of
27.4499 shares of our common stock per $1,000 principat amount of 3.25% Notes {which is equal to an initial conversion
price of approximately $36.43 per share), subject to adjustment. Upon conversian, in lieu of shares of our common stock, for
each $1,000 principal amount of 3.25% Notes a holder will receive an amount in cash equal to the fesser of {i) $1,000 or
{ii} the conversion value, determined in the manner set forth in the Indenture, of the number of shares of our common stock
equal to the conversion rate. if the conversion vatue exceeds $1,000, we also will deliver, at our etection, cash or common stock
or a combination of cash and commaon stock with respect to the remaining common stock deliverable upon conversion. If a
holder elects to convert his, her or its 3.25% Notes in connection with a fundamental change that occurs prior to January 21,
2011, we will pay, to the extent described in the Indenture, a make-whole premium by increasing the conversion rate applicable
to such 3.25% Notes.

In February 2003, we issued and sold $150,000,000 aggregate principal amount of the 2.25% Notes, which mature in
2010. Interest on the 2.25% Notes is payable semi-annually commencing September 15, 2003. The 2.25% Notes are
convertible, at the option of the holder, into our common stock at any time prior to their stated maturity, uniess previously
redeemed or repurchased, at a conversion price of $29.84 per share. Beginning March 20, 2008, the 2.25% Notes are
redeemable, in whole orin par, at our option at 100.64% of their principal amount, and thereafter at prices declining to 100%
on March 15, 2010. In addition, upon the occurrence of certain events, each holder of the 2.25% Notes may require us to
repurchase all or a portion of such holder's 2.25% Notes at a purchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof,
together with accrued and unpaid interest and liquidated damages, if any, for the period to, but excluding, the date of the
repurchase.
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On December 21, 2005, we entered into an amended and restated Loan Agreement with LaSalle Bank National
Association, increasing our $10,000,000 unsecured credit facility to a $50,000,000 unsecured credit facility that provides
both revolving loans and letters of credit. As of September 30, 2007, we had no outstanding loans under this facility. Letters of
credit outstanding under this facility totaled $700,000 as of such date, resulting in $49,300,000 of remaining availability
under the facility.

During the first quarter of 20086, we purchased the assembly manufacturing building {which we previously leased),
together with related equipment, at our manufacturing site in Eau Claire, Wisconsin for $12,924,000, including $5,069,000
paid in cash and the remainder by our assumption of a mortgage with a 7.15% interest rate that matures in April 2011,

Cash used for capital expenditures totaled $102,23%,000 for 2007, compared to $247,754,000 for 2006, and
$197,123,000 in 2005. The capital expenditures during 2007 were primarily for additions to both TSA suspension and TSA+
suspension manufacturing capacity, tooling, facilities and for new process technology and capability improvements. We
anticipate capital expenditures to be approximately $75,000,000 in 2008, primarily for tooling and manufacturing equipment
for new process technology and capability improvements. Financing of these capital expenditures will be principally from
operations, our current cash, cash equivalents and securities available for sale, our ¢redit facility or additional financing as
needed.

Qur capital expenditures for the Disk Drive Components Division are planned based on anticipated customer demand for
our suspension assembly products, market demand for disk drives, process improvements to be incorporated in our
manufacturing operations and the rate at which our customers adopt new generations of higher performance disk drives and
next-generation read/write technology and head sizes which may require new or improved process technologies. We manage
our capital spending to reflect the capacity that will be needed to meet disk drive industry customer forecasts. However, existing
work in process with vendors and lengthy lead times sometimes prevent us from adjusting capital expenditures to match near-
term demand.

We completed an expansion of our manufacturing facility located in Eau Claire, Wisconsin in November 2006 by adding a
production facility with an above-ground footprint of appreximately 70,000 square feet to accommodate a TSA+ suspension
volume production line. The facility expansion cost approximately $25,800,000.

I

| In July 2004, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to two million shares of our common stock from time

| to time in the open market or through privately negotiated transactions, subject to market conditions, share price and other
factors. In 2004, we repurchased a total of 1,722,500 shares for a tota! cost of $39,252,000. The average price paid per share
was $22.75. [n 2005, we repurchased a total of 206,000 shares for a total cost of $5,747,000. The average price paid per
share was $27.86. In 2006, we repurchased the remaining authorized amount of 71,500 shares for & total cost of
$1,299,000. The average price paid per share was $18.13.

Certain of our existing financing agreements contain financial covenants, as well as covenants which, among other things,
restrict our ability to pay dividends to our shareholders and restrict our ability to enter into certain types of financing. As of
September 30, 2007, we were in compliance with all covenants in our financing agreements. if, however, we are not in
compliance with the covenants in our financing agreements at the end of any future quarter and cannot abtain amendments an
terms acceptable to us, our future financial resuits and liquidity could be materially adversely affected.

We currently believe that our cash and cash equivalents, securities available for sale, cash generated from operations, our
credit facility and additional financing will be sufficient to meet our operating expenses, debt service requirements and capital
expenditures through 2008. Cur ability to obtain additional financing will depend upon a number of factors, including our future
performance and financial results and general economic and capital market conditions. We cannot be sure that we will be able
to raise additional capital on reasonable terms or at all, if needed.

30




-

| Contractual Qbligations

' The following table presents our contractual obligations at September 30, 2007 (in thousands):
Payments Due by Period

Less Than One to Three to More Than

Total One Year Three Years Five Years Five Years
longtermdebt . ......... ... ... .. .. $380,288 $ 1,344 $152995 § 949 $225,000
Interest EXPENSE .. ..o vv v e r v e 144,479 11,033 20,073 14,655 98,719
Operating leases . .................. 25,809 12,457 9,871 2,255 1,326
Total, . oo e $550,676 $24,834 $182,939 $17,858  $325,045

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Letters of credit outstanding under our unsecured credit facility with LaSalle Bank National Association will not be
included on our balance sheet unless and until the beneficiary of the letter of credit draws upon if. Letters of credit outstanding
under this facility totaled $700,000 as of September 30, 2007, resulting in $49,300,000 of remaining availability. We
currently do not have any unconsclidated special purpose entity arrangements,

Critical Accounting Policles

Qur discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our condensed
consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States. The preparation of these financial statements requires estimation and judgment that affect the reported
amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other
assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making
judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Following are our
most critical accounting policies that affect significant areas and involve judgment and estimates. If these estimates differ
materially from actual results, the impact to the consolidated financial statements may be material.

Revenue Recognition — in recognizing revenue in any period, we apply the provisions of SEC Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 101, “Revenue Recognition” as amended and codified by Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 103, “Update of
Codification of Staff Accounting Bulletins” (Codification of Staff Accounting Bulletins, Topic 13: “Revenue Recognition™), as
amended by Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, “Revision of Topic 13" (Codification of Staff Accounting Bulletins, Topic 13:
“Revenue Recognition; Section A — “Selected Revenue Recognition Issues”). We recognize revenue from the sale of our
products when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the product has been delivered, the fee is fixed and determinable
and collection of the resulting receivable is reasonably assured. Amounts billed to customers for shipping and handling costs
associated with products sold are classified as revenue.

For all sales, we use a binding purchase order as evidence of an arangement. Delivery generally occurs when product is
delivered to a comman camier. Certain of our products are delivered on an FOB destination basis. We defer our revenue
associated with these transactions until the product has been delivered to the customer’s premises.

We also store Disk Drive Components Division inventory in VMI facilities, which are warehouses located close to the
customer’s manufacturing facilities. Revenue is recognized on sales from such facilities upon the transfer of title and risk of loss,
following the customer's acknowledgement of the receipt of the goods.

We also enter into arrangements with customers that provide us with reimbursement for guaranteed capacity. We
tecognize the associated revenue over the estimated life of the program for which the capacity is guaranteed.

Accounts Receivable — We are dependent on a limited number of customers, and as a result, our trade accounts
receivable is highly concentrated. We establish an allowance for doubtful accounts by analyzing specific customer accounts
and assessing the risk of uncoliectability based on past transaction history with the customer and the customer’s financial
condition. While we perform ongoing credit reviews of our customers and have established an allowance for doubtful accounts,
a significant deterioration in the financial condition of any significant customer may result in additional charges to increase the
allowance for doubtful accounts or to write off certain accounts.
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We record a provision against revenue for estimated retums on sales of our products in the same petiod that the related
revenues are recognized. We base the allowance on historical retums, as well as existing product retum authorizations.

Inventory Valuation — Inventories are valued at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out method) or market by analyzing market
conditions, current sales prices, inventory costs and inventory balances.

We are dependent on a limited number of customers and a limited number of proguct programs for each customer,
Because our products are custom built, we typically cannot shift work-in-process or finished goods from customer to customer
or from one program to another for & particular customer. We evaluate inventory balances for excess guantities and
obsolescence on a regular basis by analyzing backlog, estimated demand, inventory on hand, sales levels and other
information. We write down excess and obsolete inventory to the lower of cost or market based on the analysis.

Long-Lived Assets — We evaluate the camrying value of long-lived assets, consisting primarily of property, plant and
equipment, whenever certain events or changes in circumstances indicate that the camrying amount of these assets may not be
recoverable. Such events or circumstances include, but are not limited to, a prolonged industry downtum or significant
reductions in projected future cash flows. In assessing the recoverability of long-lived assets, we compare the camrying value to
the undiscounted future cash flows the assets are expected to generate, If the total of the undiscounted future cash flows is less
than the carrying amount of the assets, the assets will be written down based on the excess of the carrying amount over the fair
value of the assets. Fair value would generally be determined by calculating the discounted future cash flows using a discount
rate based upon our weighted average cost of capital. Significant judgments and assumptions are required in the forecast of
future operating results used in the preparation of the estimated future cash flows. Changes in these estimates could have a
material effect on the assessment of long-lived assets.

Income Taxes — We account for income taxes in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109,
“Accounting for income Taxes.” As part of the process of preparing our consolidated financial statements, we are required to
estimate our income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate. This process involves estimating our current tax
exposure together with assessing temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items for tax and accounting
purposes. These temporary differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities, which are included within our consolidated
balance sheet. We must then assess the likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be realized based on future taxable income,
and to the extent we believe that recavery is not likely, we must establish a valuation allowance. To the extent we establish a
valuation allowance or change this allowance in a period, we must include an expense or a benefit within the tax provision in our
statement of operations.

Significant judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes, our deferred tax assets and liabilities and
any valuation allowance recorded against our deferred tax assets. Valuation allowances arise due to the uncertainty of realizing
the benefits of certain tax credits and NOL camryforwards before they expire, and are based on our historical taxable income and
our estimates of future taxable income in each jurisdiction in which we operate. At September 30, 2007 and September 24,
2006 we had valuation allowances of $6,827,000 and $5,267,000, respectively, related primarily to certain tax credits and

the uncertainty of realizing these benefits before they expire due to certain limitations. We will continue.to.assess the likelihood . .

that the deferred tax assets will be realizable, and the valuation allowance will be adjusted accordingly, which could materially
impact our financial position and results of operations.

Other Matters

We are involved in certain legal matters which may result in additional future cash requirements. We are unable to
estimate the future cash requirements if any. See the discussion of these matters in Note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements contained in ltem 15,

In September 2006, the SEC released Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108, “Considering the Effects of Prior Year
Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Cumrent Year Financial Statements” (“SAB 108”). SAB 108 permits us to
adjust for the cumulative effect of misstatements related to prior years, previously deemed to be immaterial, in the carrying
amount of assets and liabilities as of the beginning of the current fiscal year, with an offsetting adjustment to the opening
balance of retained earnings in the year of adoption. SAB 108 also requires the adjustment of any prior quarterly financial
statements in future SEC filings within the fiscal year of adoption for the effects of such misstatements on the quarters when the
information is next presented. This adjustment does not require reports previously filed with the SEC to be amended.
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Effective September 26, 2005, we elected early application of SAB 108. In accordance with SAB 108, we reduced our
opening retained eamings for 2006 by $1,952,000, net of tax of $1,126,000, and adjusted our financial results for the first
three quarters of 2006 as shown in the tables below. We consider this adjustment to be immaterial to prior periods.

Our SAB 108 adjustment relates to one customer arrangement whereby certain revenues that were recorded in 2004 and
2005 should have been deferred. Deferred revenue amounts related to this arrangement are included within accrued expenses
and other long-term liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet as of September 24, 2006. Based on our approach for
assessing misstatements prior to the adoption of SAB 108, we had previously concluded that these amounts were immaterial.

The impact of this adjustment for the first three quarters of 2006 is presented below (in thousands, except per share
data).

Thirteen Weeks Ended December 25, 2005
As Reported Adjustment As Adjusted

Netsales..................... $184,627 $ (67) $184,560
Provision for income taxes . ........ 1,177 (11) 1,166
Netincome .. ................. 6,046 (56) 5,990
Eamings per share:
Basic ..................... 0.24 0.00 0.24
Diluted .................... 0.22 0.00 0.22
Thirteen Weeks Ended March 26, 2006 Twenty-Shx Weeks Ended March 26, 2006
As Reported Adjustment As Adjusted As Reported Adjustment As Adjusted
Netsales ..................... $185,926 $ 469 $186,395 $370,553 $ 402 $370,955
Provision for income taxes ......... 1,361 73 1,434 2,538 62 2,600
Netincome. ................... 7,873 396 8,269 13,919 340 14,259
Eamings per share:
Basic.................... 0.31 0.01 0.32 0.54 0.01 0.55
Diluted . . ................... 0.28 0.01 0.29 0.50 0.01 0.51
Thirteen Weeks Ended June 25, 2006 Thirty-Nlne Weeks Ended June 25, 2008
As Reported Adjustment As Adjusted As Reported Adjustment As Adjusted
Netsales ..................... $169,599 $ 380 $169,979  $540,152 $ 782 $540,934
Provision for income taxes ......... (163) 22 (141) 2,375 84 2,459
Netincome.................... 5,838 358 6,196 19,756 698 20,454
Eamings per share;
Basic............. .. oL 0.23 0.01 0.24 0.77 0.02 0.79
Diuted . . ................... 0.22 0.01 0.23 0.72 0.02 0.74

See Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements contained in Item 15 for a discussion of other recent accounting
pronouncements.

The American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (“AJCA") was signed into law on October 22, 2004. The AJCA contains two
provisions that affect us. The first provision is the repeal of the EIE provisions, which were phased out on a calendar-year basis
with the benefit ending December 31, 2006. The second provision of the AICA that affects us is the introduction of a deduction
for a percentage of income from domestic production activities. The deduction is limited in any fiscal year in which a taxpayer
uses NOL camryforwards. For our fiscal year ended September 30, 2007, we will not receive any benefit from this deduction, as
we will use NOL camryforwards. The deduction is phased in an a calendar-year basis and will be fully phased in for our fiscal year
ending September 25, 2011.

Infiation

Management believes inflation has not had a material effect on our operations or on our financial condition. We cannot be
sure that our business will not be affected by inflation in the future,
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Our credit facility with LaSalle Bank National Association carries interest rate rigk, in connection with certain borrowings for
which it provides, that is generally related to either LIBOR or the prime rate. if either of these rates were to change while we had
such borrowings outstanding under the credit facility, interest expense would increase or decrease accordingly. At Septem-
ber 30, 2007, there were no outstanding loans under the credit facility.

We have no eamings or cash flow exposure due to market risk on our other debt obligations which are subject to fixed
interest rates. Interest rate changes, however, would affect the fair market value of this fixed rate debt. At September 30, 2007,
we had fixed rate debt of $380,288,000, with a fair market value of approximately $355,534,000.

We are exposed to various market risks and potential loss arising from changes in interest rates in connection with our
cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities held in investment accounts.

All of our sales transactions in our Disk Drive Components Division are denominated in U.S. dollars and thus are not
subject to risk due to currency exchange fluctuations. Certain sales transactions in our BioMeasurement Division may be
denominated in foreign cumencies.

Item 8. Flnancial Statements and Supplementary Data

The financial statements and notes thereto required pursuant to this item begin on page 41 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

ltem 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that informatien we are required to disclose in
reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time period
specified in SEC rules and forms. These controls and procedures are also designed to ensure that such information is accumulated
and communicated to our management, including our principal executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate, to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating disclosure controls and procedures, we have
recognized that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance
of achieving the desired control objectives. Management is required to apply judgment in evaluating its controls and procedures.

We performed an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal
executive and principal financial officers, to assess the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controts and
procedures under the Exchange Act. Based on that evaluation, our management, including our principal executive and principal
financial officers, concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of September 30, 2007 because
of a material weakness in our intemal control over financial reporting.
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Management’s Report on Internal Controls and Procedures

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adeqguate internal control over financial reporting {as
defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act). Our intemal control system is designed to provide reascnable
assurance to our management and board of directors regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Our intemal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that;

- pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect our transactions and
dispositions of assets;

- provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America, and that our receipts and
expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and

« provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of
company assets that could have a materal effect on our financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,

projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

We performed an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal
executive and principal financial officers, to assess the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and
procedures under the Exchange Act as of September 30, 2007. In making this assessment, we used the criteria set forth by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control — Integrated Framework. Based on
that criteria, the material weakness described below has caused our management to conclude we did not maintain effective
internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2007.

A material weakness is a significant deficiency (as defined in Public Company Accounting Oversight Board Auditing
Standard Mo. 5}, or combination of significant deficiencies, that results in more than a remote likelihood that a material
misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected.

Cur management determined that the processes and procedures surrounding the preparation and review of the
accounting for deferred income tax assets and liabilities did not include adeguate reconciliation to supporting documentation
and adequate management oversight and review controls. This matter represents a design and operating deficiency which
constituted a material weakness thatimpacted the Income Tax Provision, Income Tax Payable and Deferred Income Tax accounts
of the consolidated financial statements,

Management has taken the foltowing measures to address the material weakness identified above and to enhance our
internal control over quarterly and year-end financial reporting procedures:

- improved procedures for the calculation and reconciliation process of our deferred income tax assets and liabilities,

including validation of underlying supporting data; and

- enhanced quarterly management review of the calculation of the deferred income tax assets and liabilities and

underlying supporting data.

We anticipate that these remediation actions will represent ongoing improvement measures. While we have taken steps to
remediate the material weakness, additional measures may be required. We will assess the effectiveness of our remediation
efforts in connection with our management’s tests of internal control over financial reporting in conjunction with our next year-
end financial statements.

Our consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended September 30, 2007 have been audited by Deloitte &
Touche LLR our independent registered public accounting firm, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board {United States). Deloitte & Touche LLP has also audited our internal control over financial reporting
as of September 30, 2007, as stated in its attestation report included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

/s/ Wayne M. Fortun
President and Chief Executive Officer

/s/ John Al Ingleman
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

November 28, 2007
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Hutchinson Technology Incorporated:

We have audited Hutchinson Technology Incorporated and subsidiaries’ (the “Company’s™) intemal control over financial
reporting as of September 30, 2007, based on the ¢riteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining
effective intemal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financiai
reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Qur audit included obtaining an
understanding of intemal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on that risk, and performing such other procedures
as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s intemal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s principal
executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company's board of directors,
management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statemenits for extemal pumposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, A comparny’s intemal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain o the maintenance of reconds that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairy reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; {2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to pemmit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management
and directors of the company, and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of intemal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or
improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to emor or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a
timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the intemnal control over financial reporting to future
periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in intemal control over financial reporting, such that
there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the company's annual or interim financial statements will not
be prevented or detected on a timely basis. The following material weakness has been identified and included in management’s
assessment: the Company determined that its processes and procedures surrounding the preparation and review of the
accounting for deferred income tax assets and liabilities did not incluge adequate reconciliation to supperting documentation
and adequate management oversight and review. These matters represent a design and operating deficiency and, based upon
misstatements requiring comection to the consolidated financial statements that impacted the income tax provision, income tax
payable and deferred income tax accounts, constitute a material weakness. This material weakness was considered in
determining the nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the consolidated financial statements and
financial statement schedule as of and for the year ended September 30, 2007, of the Company, and this report does not affect
our report on such consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule.

In our opinian, because of the effect of the material weakness identified above on the achievement of the objectives of the
control criteria, the Company has not maintained effective internal contro! over financial reporting as of September 30, 2007,
based on the criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoting
Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance on management's statements regarding the measures taken
to address the material weakness identified in Management's Report on Intemal Controls and Procedures, and the statements
by management regarding the remediation efforts.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule as of and for the year ended September 30,
2007, of the Company, and our report dated November 28, 2007, expressed an ungualified opinion an those consolidated
financial statements and financial statement schedule.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
November 28, 2007

36




item 9B. Other Information

On November 28, 2007, our board of directors amended our Fiscal Year 2008 Disk Drive Components Division
Management Bonus Pian and our Fiscal Year 2008 BioMeasurement Division Bonus Plan to specify that executive officers and
certain other management-level employees who provide corporate support to both divisions rather than solely to one division
will have a 50% participation level in each of these plans for 2008, Descriptions of these plans as amended are filed as
Exhibit 10.6 to this Annual Report on Farm 10-K, and are incorporated herein by reference.

PART I

Certain information required by Part Ill is incorporated by reference from our definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual
Meeting of Sharehofders to be held on January 30, 2008 (the “Proxy Statement™}, which will be filed with the SEC pursuant to
Regulation 14A within 120 days after September 30, 2007. Except for those portions specifically incorporated in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K by reference to our Proxy Statement, no other portions of the Proxy Statement are deemed to be filed as
part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Incorporated into this item by reference is the information appearing under the headings “Propasal No. 1 — Election of
Directors” and “Section 16{a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in our Proxy Statement. See also Part | of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K under the heading “ltem X. Executive Officers of the Registrant”

On November 19, 2003, we adopted a Code of Ethics applicable to our chief executive officer, chief financial officer,
controller and other employees performing similar functions as designated by our chief executive officer. In July 2004, this Code
was merged with our Code of Conduct and renamed the Code of Ethics and Conduct. A copy of the Code of Ethics and Conduct
is avaflable on our website at hitp://www.htch.com. We intend to post on our website any amendments to, or waivers from, our
Code of Ethics and Conduct within two days of any such amendment or waiver.

item 11. Executive Compensation

incorporated into this item by reference is the information appearing under the heading “Compensation of Executive
Officers;” the information regarding compensation committee interlocks and insider participation under the heading “Corporate
Govemance™ and the information regarding compensation of non-employee directors under the heading “Proposal No. 1 —
Election of Directors” in our Proxy Statement.
tem 12. Security Ownership of Certaln Beneficlal Owners and Managemént and Related Stockholder Matters

Incorporated into this item by reference is the information appearing under the headings “Security Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management” and “Equity Compensation Plan Information” in our Proxy Statement.
Item 13. Certain Relatlonships and Related Transactions, and Director independence

Incorporated into this item by reference is the information regarding director independence under the heading “Proposal
No. 1 — Election of Directors” and the information regarding related person transactions under the heading “Corporate
Governance” in our Proxy Statement.

ltem 14. Princlpal Accountant Fees and Services

Incorporated into this item by reference is the information under “Proposal No. 3 — Ratification of Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm” in our Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financlal Statement Schedules

{a) Documents Filed as Part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

1. Consolidated Financial Statements;

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2007, September 24, 2006
and September 25, 2005

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2007 and September 24, 2006

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2007, September 24, 2006
and September 25, 2005

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Investment for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2007,
September 24, 2006 and September 25, 2005

Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
2. Financial Statement Schedules:

Schedule Il = Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

All other schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the SEC are not
required under the related instructions or are inapplicable and therefore have been omitted. -

{b) Exhibits:

Unless otherwise indicated, all documents incorporated into-this Annual Report on Form 10-K by reference to a document
filed with the SEC pursuant to the Exchange Act are located under SEC file number 0-14709.

3.1

3.2

4.1

42

43

4.4

4.5
10.1

10.2

10.3

Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of HT (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to HT1's Quartery
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 12/29/02).

Restated By-Laws of HTl, as amended October 12, 2005 (incomorated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to HTI's Current
Report on Form 8-K filed 10/18/05).

Instruments defining the rights of security holders. The registrant agrees to fumish the SEC upon request copies of
instruments with respect to long-term debt.

Share Rights Agreement dated as of 7/18/00 between HTI and Wells Fargo Bank Minnesota, N.A., as Rights Agent
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1 to HTI’s Registration Statement on Form 8-A, dated 7/24/00).

Indenture dated as of 2/24/03 between HTl and LaSalle Bank National Association, as Trustee (incorporated by

" reference to Exhibit 4.5 to HT's Registration Statement on Form S-3, Registration No. 333-104074).

Indenture dated as of 1/25/06 hetween HTl and LaSalle Bank National Association, as Trustee {incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to HT''s Current Report on Form 8-K filed 1/26/06). '

Form of 3.25% Convertible Subordinated Note due 2026 (included as part of Exhibit 4.4).

Office/Warehouse Lease between OPUS Corporation, Lessor, and HTI, Lessee, dated 12/29/95 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to HTI's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 3/24/96), First Amendment
to Office/Warehouse Lease dated 4/30/96 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to HTI's Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 6/23/96), and Second Amendment to Office/Warehouse Lease between VV
Minneapolis, LP, as successor-in-interest to OPUS Corperation, Lessor, and HTl, Lessee, dated 4/14/04
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to HIl's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
September 25, 2005).

Amended and Restated Loan Agreement dated as of 12/21/05 between HTI and LaSalle Bank National Association
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 to HTI’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed 12/28/05).

Patent License Agreement, effective as of 9/1/94, between HTI and Intemational Business Machines Corporation
{incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to HTI's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A for the quarter ended
6/25/95).
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#10.4

#10.5

#10.6

#10.7

#10.8

#10.9

#10.10

#10.11

#10.12
211
23.1
311
31.2
321

Hutchinson Technology Incorporated Amended and Restated 1996 Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Annex A to HTI's Proxy Statement for the 2005 Annual Meeting of Sharehoiders).

Hutchinson Technology Incorporated Incentive Bonus Pian (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to HTI's
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 12/28/97).

Description of Fiscal Year 2008 Management Bonus Plan of Hutchinson Technology Incorporated.

Form of Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement (Employee) under Hutchinson Technology Incorporated Amended
and Restated 1996 Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to HTI's Cumrent Report on Form 8-K
filed 10/18/05).

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement (Employee) under Hutchinson Technology Incorporated Amended and
Restated 1996 Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 0.4 to HT''s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
10/18/05).

Form of Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement (Director) under Hutchinson Technology Incorporated Amended and
Restated 1996 Incentive Plan {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to HTI's Current Report on Form 8-K filed
1/26/06).

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement (Director) under Hutchinson Technology Incorporated Amended and Restated
1996 Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to HTI's Cument Report on Form 8-K filed 12/7/04).

Description of 2007 Non-Employee Director Compensation. {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to HIT's
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended 9/24/20086).

Separation Agreement with Christina M. Temperante dated September 18, 2007.
List of Subsidiaries.

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

Rule 13a-14(a)/ 15d-14{a) Centification of Chief Executive Qfficer.

Rule 13a-14{a)/15d-14{a) Certification of Chief Financial Officer.

Section 1350 Certifications.

Copies of exhibits will be furnished upon written request and payment of HTI's reasonable expenses in furnishing the exhibits,

# Management contract, compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit to this Annua! Report on
Form 10-K.

39




SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly
caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on December 4, 2007.

HUTCHINSON TECHNOLOGY INCORPORATED

By /s/ Wayne M. Fortun

Wayne M. Fortun,
President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated on December 4, 2007.

/s/ Wayne M. Fortun

Wayne M. Fortun,
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer) and Director

/s/ John A. Ingleman

lohn A. Ingleman,
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
{Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ W. Thomas Brunberg
W. Thomas Brunberg, Director

/s/ Archibald Cox, Jr.
Archibald Cox, Jr., Director

/s/ leffrey W. Green
Jeffrey W. Green, Director

/s/ Russell Huffer
Russell Huffer, Director

/s/ William T. Monahan
William T. Monahan, Director

/s/ Richard B. Solum
Richard B. Solum, Director

/s/ Thomas R. VerHage
Thomas R. VerHage, Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Hutchinson Technology Incorporated and Subsidiaries

Fiscal Years Ended

September 30, 2007

September 24, 2008

September 25, 2005

{In thousands, except per share data}

Netsales. .. ...t e e $716,103
Costofsales . ........... ... e innannnnn. 593,862

Grossprofit .......... ... ... ... .. .. ... .. 122,241
Research and development expenses ............... 55,245
Selling, general and administrative expenses . ......... 76,943
Severance and other expenses (Note 1) .. ........... 8,728
Dispute settlement {Note 1)...................... -

Income (loss) from agperations ... ............... (18,675}
Otherincome, net. . ... oo e 4,061
Interest income . ... ... .. e 15,414
Interest eXpensSe . . .. ... . e (10,433)

Income (loss) before income taxes ... ............ (9,633)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes (Note 3) . ......... (16,898)

Netincome . ...... ... . . . e $ 7265
Basiceamings pershare. . ..........cccverernn. $ 0.28
Diluted eamings pershare. . . .................... $ 028
Weighted-average common shares outstanding . . . ... ... 25,988

Weighted-average cormman and diluted shares
outstanding . . ... . L 26,041

$721,507
576,607

144,900
52,939
B4,191

(5,000}

12,770
5,683

12,762

{7,333)

23,882
3,406

$ 20,476
$ 080
$ o077
25,611

30,815

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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$631,581
456,730
174,851
36,829
80,641

57,381
4,795
7,738

(2,132)

67,7182
12,901

$ 54,881
$ 218
$ 188
25,226

30,779




CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Hutchinson Technology Incomporated and Subsidiaries

September 30, 2007

September 24, 2006

(In thousands)

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cashand cash equivalents .. .......... ... iinrurrirnnnennn. $ 64,509
Securities available forsale . . ... .. ... .. e 233,043
Trade receivables, net . . .. .. ... ... i 101,997
Other receivables . ..o v e e 20,529
T o1 ] = 61,183
Deferred tax assets (NOote 3) . .. .. ... i 8,582
Othercurrent assets (Note B). . .. ... i e 7,444
Total CUMment @SSetS . . v v v vt v e e 497,287

Property, plant and equipment, at cost:
Land, buildings and improvements . . ........... . e i 240,711
EQUIDMERE. . o e e e 910,701
Construction in ProBrESS . . . . v vt vt e e e 44,834
Less: Accumulated depreciation . .. ... ... . e {738,363)
Net property, plant and equipment . . ........ ... ... .. ..., 457,883
Deferred tax assets (Note 3} . .. .. ... i e 79,008
Otherassets (NOt B) . . .. ... it it i et e e 15,811

$1,049,989

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' INVESTMENT
Cument liabilities:

Cument maturittes of long-term debt . . .. ... .. .. $ 1,344
Accounts payable . . . ... L 29,528
ACCrUEd BXDENSES . . v it 16,535
Accrued COMPENsation . ... ... . e 21,257
Total current liabilities . . ... oo 68,664
Convertible subordinated notes . . ... ... ... . i i 375,000
Long-term debt, less cument maturities . ... ... ... oo et 3,944
Other long-term liabilities . ......... ... . i i 2,834

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 2, 5 and 6)
Shareholders’ investment:
Common stock, $.01 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized,

26,074,000 and 25,638,000 issued and outstanding. . ... .......... 261
Additional paid-in capital. . ... ... .. .. 411,349
Accumulated other comprehensive toss {gain) ............. .. .. ... 29
Accumulated eamings. . . ... ... L e e 187,908

Total shareholders’ investment. ... .. .. ... 599,547
$1,049,989

The accompanying notes are an integral pant of these consolidated financial statements,
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$ 40331
250,110
95,391
14,409
81,298
8,021
7,161

496,721

186,947
787,756
141,706

(644,246)

472,163
57,867
18,333

$1,045,084

$ 1252
45,090
14,819
21,338

82,499
375,000
5,291
3,570

256
398,047
{222)
180,643
578,724

$1,045,084




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Hutchinson Technology incomorated and Subsidianes

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Netincome . ... ... .. . .. 't

Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided

+ by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization. . .. .............
Stock-based compensation. . .................
Provision (benefit) for deferred taxes (Note 3). ... ..
Loss on disposal of assets . . .................
Write-off of design costs (Note 1) . . ... .........
Changes in operating assets and liabilities (Note 7). .

Cash provided by operating activities. . . . ... .......
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Capital expenditures .. ............... .. ......

Purchases of marketable securities . ..............
Sales/maturities of marketable securities. .. ... ... ..

Cash used for investing activities. . ...............

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock .. ... ..
Net proceeds from issuance of convertible subordinated

Repayment of long-termdebt . . .................
Debtissuance costs ........oo oo .
Repurchase of common stock (Note 9) . ...........

Cash pravided by financing activities . . . ...........

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents. . ... .......
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year . .. .. ...

Cash and cash equivalents atend of year . ...........

Fiscal Years Ended

September 30, 2007

September 24, 2006

September 25, 2005

(In thousands)

$ 7,265 $ 20476
118,820 118,640
4,784 3,694
(21,847) 2,113

12 356

2,577 -
(8,821) (34,939)
102,790 110,340
(102,239) (247,754)
(1,895,490) (1,958,459)
1,912,663 1,881,335
(85,066) (324,878)
7,709 4,776

- 219,375

(1,255) (1,312)
- (404)
- (1,299)

6,454 221,136
24,178 6,598
40,331 33,733

$ 64,509 $ 40331

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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$ 54,881

71,180

15,210
162

(14,657)
126,776

{197,123)
{654,223)
706,661

{144,685)

23,685

(5,747)
17,938

29
33,704

$ 33733



CONSCLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' INVESTMENT

Hutchinson Technology Incorporated and Subsidiaries

Balance, September 26, 2004. .........
Exercise of stock options . . ..........
Issuance of common stock ..........

Tax benefit on steck option exercises

Repurchase of common stock. . .......
Components of comprehensive income;

Unrealized loss on securities available for
sale, net of income taxes of $72 . ...

Netincome ...................
Total comprehensive income. .. .......

Balance, September 25, 2005, .........

Cumulative effect adjustment, net of income
taxes of $1,126 (Note 1). . ... .....

Exercise of stock options . ... ........
Issuance of common stock . .........

Stock-based compensation (Note 5)

Repurchase of common stock. . .......
Components of comprehensive income;

Unrealized gain on securities available for
sale, net of income taxes of $282. . ..

Netincome ...................
Total comprehensive income. . ........

Balance, September 24, 2006..........

Exercise of stock options . ... ........
Issuance of common stock ..........

Stock-based compensation {Note 5)
Tax benefit on stock option exercises

Components of comprehensive income:

Unrealized gain on secutities available for
sale, net of income taxes of $145. . ..

Netincome ............ccvv...
Total comprehensive income. . ........

Balance, September 30, 2007..........

i Aceuol;lulahad Total
Ad I ta
__Common Stock I'alﬂ‘-,:lzil Compret?:nslve Accumulated Share‘:lolders'
Shares  Amount Capital Income {Loss) Eamings Investment
(In thousands)
24394 $244 $363,786 $(588) $110,110 $473,552
1,152 11 20,815 - - 20,826
110 1 2,858 - - 2,859
- - 6,292 - - 6,292
{206) (2) (3,071) - (2,674) (5,747}
- - - (124) -
- - - - 54 881
54,757
25450 $254 $390,680 $(712) $162,317 $552,539
$ (1,952) % (1,952)
114 $ 1 § 1908 - - 1,909
146 2 2,865 - - 2,867
- - 3,694 - - 3,694
(72) {1) (1,100) - (198) (1,299}
- - - $ 490 -
— - — - 20,476
20,966
25,638 $256 $398,047 $(222) $180,643 $578,724
276 $ 3 § 4801 - - $ 4804
160 2 2,903 - - 2,905
- - 4,784 - - 4,784
_ - 814 - - 814
- - - $251 -
- - - - $ 7265
7,516
26,074 $261 $411,349 $ 29 $187,908  $599,547

The accompanying notes are an integral parn of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Hutchinson Technology Incorporated and Subsidiaries
(Columnar dollar amounts in thousands except per share amounts)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policlies
Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Hutchinson Technology Incorporated and its subsidiaries
(“we, “our” and “us"), all of which are wholly owned. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been
eliminated in consalidation.

Use of Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The
preparation of these financial statements requires estimation and judgment that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we
believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. If these estimates differ materially from actual
results, the impact to the consolidated financial statements may be material.

Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB") issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities — Including an Amendment of FASB
Statement No. 115" (“SFAS No. 159”), which becomes effective for fiscal periods beginning after November 15, 2007, our
fiscal year 2009. Under SFAS No. 159, companies may elect to measure specified financial instruments and warranty and
insurance contracts at fair value on a contract-by-contract basis, with changes in fair value recognized in eamings each
reporting period. We have not determined the impact, if any, the adoption of this statement will have an our consolidated
financial statements,

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements”
{“SFAS No. 157"}, This statement clarifies the definition of fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and
expands the disclosures on fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15,
2007, our fiscal year 2009. We have not determined the impact, if any, the adoption of this statement will have on our
consolidated financial statements.

In September 2008, the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") released Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108,
“Constdering the Effects of Prior Year Misstaternents when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements”
(“SAB 108"). SAB 108 permits us to adjust for the cumulative effect of misstatements related to prior years, previously deemed
to be immaterial, in the camrying amount of assets and liabilities as of the beginning of the current fiscal year, with an offsetting
adjustment to the opening batance of retained eamings in the year of adoption. SAB 108 also requires the adjustment of any
prior quarterly financial statements in future SEC filings within the fiscal year of adoption for the effects of such misstatements
on the quarters when the information is next presented. This adjustment does not require reports previously filed with the SEC to
be amended.

Effective September 26, 2005, we elected early application of SAB 108. In accordance with SAB 108, we reduced our
opening retained earnings for 2006 by $1,952,000, net of tax of $1,126,000, and adjusted our financlal results for the first
three quarters of 2006 as shown in the tables below. We consider this adjustment to be immaterial to prior periods.

Our SAB 108 adjustment relates to one customer arangement whereby certain revenues that were recorded in 2004 and
2005 should have been deferred. Deferred revenue amounts related to this arrangement are included within accrued expenses
and other long-term liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet as of September 24, 2006. Based on our approach for
assessing misstatements prior to the adoption of SAB 108, we had previously concluded that these amounts were immaterial.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Hutchinson Technology Incorporated and Subsidiaries — (Continued)

The impact of this adjustment for the first three quarters of 2006 is presented below.

Thirteen Weeks Ended December 25, 2005
As Reported Adjustment As Adjusted

Netsales..................... $184.627 $(67) $184,560
Provision for income taxes . . ....... 1,177 (11) 1,166
Netincome ................... 6,046 (56) 5,990
Eamings per share:

Basic .......... .. .. ... 0.24 0.00 0.24

Diluted ................. ... 0.22 0.00 0.22

Thirteen Weeks Ended March 26, 2006 Twenty-Six Weeks Ended March 26, 2006
As Reported  Adjustmomt  As Adjusted As Reported  Adjustment  As Adjustsd

Netsales....................... $185,926 $ 469 $186,395 $370,553 $ 402 $370,955
Provision for income taxes . .......... 1,361 73 1,434 2,638 62 2,800
Netingome ................ ... 7,873 396 8,269 13,919 340 14,259
Eamings per share:

BasiC. . ... e 0.31 0.01 0.32 0.54 0.01 0.55

Diluted ........... ... cc.... 0.28 0.01 0.29 0.50 0.01 0.51

Thirteen Weaks Ended Juna 25, 2006 Thirty-Nino Woeks Ended June 25, 2006
As Reported Ad|ustment As Adjusted As Reported Adjustment As Adlusted

Netsales.............c.vvn.nn. $169,599 $ 380 $169,979  $540,152 $782 $540,934
Provision for income taxes ........... {163) 22 {141) 2,375 84 2,459
Netincome .......... ... ...t 5,838 358 6,196 19,756 698 20,454
Eamings per share:

Basic............ . i 0.23 0.01 0.24 0.77 0.02 0.79

Diluted ..........covienn.. 0.22 0.01 0.23 0.72 0.02 0.74

In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in income Taxes™ (*FIN 487), an
interpretation of FASB Statement 109. FIN 48 prescribes a comprehensive madel for recognizing, measuring, presenting and
disclosing in the financial statements tax positions taken or expected to be taken on a tax return, including a decision whether
to file or not to file a tax retum in a particular jurisdiction. FIN 48 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006.
If there are changes in net assets as a result of the application of FIN 48, these will be accounted for as an adjustment to
retained earnings. We are currently assessing the impact of FIN 48 on our consolidated balance sheet and results of operations.

iIn December 2004, the FASB issued a revision to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R}), “Share-
Based Payment” (“SFAS 123(R)"). The revision requires all entities to recognize compensation expense in an amount equal to
the fair value of share-based payments granted to employees. SFAS 123(R) eliminates the alternative method of accounting for
employee share-based payments previously available under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25. Effective Septem-
ber 26, 2005, we adopted the provisions of SFAS 123(R) using the modified-prospective transition method. As a result of
adopting SFAS 123(R), we recorded stock-based compensation expense, inciuded in selling, general and administrative
expenses, of $4,784,000 and $3,694,000 for 2007 and 20086, respectively. Results for prior periods have not been restated.
See Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Hutchinson Technology Incorporated and Subsidiaries — (Continued)

Fiscal Year

Our fiscal year is the fifty-two/fifty-three week period ending on the last Sunday in September. The fiscal year ended
September 30, 2007 is a fifty-three week period and the fiscal years ended September 24,2006 and September 25, 2005 are
both fifty-two week periods.

Revenue Recognition

In recognizing revenue in any period, we apply the provisions of SEC Staff Accounting Bulietin No. 101, “Revenue
Recognition, as amended and codified by Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 103, “Update of Codification of Staff Accounting
Bulletins” (Codification of Staff Accounting Bulletins, Topic 13: “Revenue Recognition”), as amended by Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 104, “Revision of Topic 13" {Codification of Staff Accounting Bulletins, Topic 13: “Revenue Recognition,’
Section A — “Selected Revenue Recognition Issues”). We recognize revenue from the sale of our products when persuasive
evidence of an aangement exists, the product has been delivered, the fee is fixed and determinable and collection of the
resulting receivable is reasonably assured. Amounts billed to customers for shipping and handling costs associated with
products sold are classified as revenue.

For all sales, we use a binding purchase order as evidence of an amangement. Delivery generally occurs when product is
delivered to a common camier. Certain of our products are delivered on an FOB destination basis. We defer our revenue
associated with these transactions until the product has been delivered to the customers premises.

We also store Disk Drive Components Division inventory in “vendor managed inventory, or VMI, facilities, which are
warehouses located close to the customer's manufacturing facilities. Revenue is recognized on sales from such facilities upon
the transfer of title and risk of loss, following the customer's acknowledgement of the receipt of the goods.

We also enter into arangements with customers that provide us with reimbursement for guaranteed capacity. We
recognize the associated revenue over the estimated life of the program for which the capacity is guaranteed.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents consist of all highly liquid investments with original maturities of ninety days or less.

Securltles Available for Sale

We account for securities available for sale in accordance with FAS 115, which requires that available-for-sale securities
are carried at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses reported as other comprehensive income within shareholders’
investment, net of applicable income taxes. Realized gains and losses and decline in value deemed to be other than temporary
on available-for-sale securities are included in other income. Fair value of the securities is based upon the quoted market price
on the last business day of the fiscal year. The cost basis for realized gains and losses on available-for-sate securities is
determined on a specific identification basis. A summary of our securities available for sale as of September 30, 2007 and
September 24, 2006 is as foliows:

September 30, 2007

Cost Gross Unrealized Recorded
_B_gsls_ % Losses Basis
Municipal Bonds .. ... e $167,353  $40 $- $167,393
Comorate bonds and notes. . .. ....... .. i 54,216 i3 - 54,229
Government SECUMtieS. . . ... v r i e e 11,428 - {7) 11,421

$232,997  $53 §(7)  $233,043
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Hutchinson Technology Incorporated and Subsidiaries — (Continued)

September 24, 2006

Cost Gross Unreallzed Recorded
__ Basls Galns Losses Basls
MUnicipal BoNdS . . ..o e $140944 $21 $ - $140,965
Comporate bonds and notes .. ........ ..., 53,917 - (54) 53,863
Government securities . ... ........ ... o 55699 - {317) 55,282

$250,460  $21  $(371) $250,110

As of September 30, 2007, $214,173,000 of our securities available for sale mature within one year and $18,870,000
mature within one to three years.

Trade Receivables

We grant credit to customers, but generally do not require coliateral or any other security to support amounts due. Trade
receivables of $101,997,000 at September 30, 2007 and $95,391,000 at September 24, 2006 are net of allowances of
$416,000 and $1,618,000, respectively. As of September 30, 2007, allowances of $416,000 consisted of a $19,000
allowance for doubtful accounts and a $397,000 allowance for sales returns. As of September 24, 2006, allowances of
$1,618,000 consisted of a $553,000 allowance for doubtful accounts and a $1,065,000 allowance for sales returns.

We warmrant that the goods sold by us will be free from defects in materials and workmanship for a pericd of one year or
less following delivery to our customer. Upon determination that the goods sold are defective, we typically accept the retum of
such goods and refund the purchase price to our customer. We record a provision against revenue for estimated retums on sales
of our products in the same period that the refated revenues are recognized. We base the allowance on historical product
retums, as well as existing product retum authorizations. The following table reconciles the changes in our allowance for sales
retums under wamanties:

Increases In the Reductions In the
Beginning  Allowance Related to Allowance for Retumns Ending
Balance Warrantles Issued Under Warrantles Balance
2007 .. e e $1,065 $1,523 $(2,191) $ 397
2006 ... $ 596 $6,760 $(6,291) $1,065

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out method) or market by analyzing market conditions, cument
sales prices, inventary costs and inventory balances. Inventories consisted of the following at September 30, 2007 and
September 24, 2006:

2007 2006
Raw Materials. . ... i i e e $21,108 $21,868
WORK QM PIOCESS + o v vt ettt et e et 11,980 17,698
Finished 000s . . . .. ... it i e e e e i e e 28,095 41,732

$61,183  $81,298

Property and Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Costs of renewals and betterments are capitalized and depreciated.
Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred.

48




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Hutchinsen Technology Incorporated and Subsidiaries — (Continued)

Buildings and leasehold improvements are depreciated on a straight-line basis and equipment is depreciated using a
150% declining balance method or straight-line basis for financial reporting purposes. Property is depreciated using primarily
accelerated methods for tax reporting purposes. Estimated useful lives for financial reporting purposes are as follows:

BUIINGS . . ol e e 25 to 35 years
Leasehold IMpPIOVEMBMLS. . .. o u vt e e e ettt e it et et e 510 10 years
BQUIPMERE .t e e e e e e 1to 15 years

Engineering and Process Development

Our engineers and technicians are responsible for the implementation of new technologies, as well as process and
product development and improvements. Expenditures related to these activities totaled $88,462,000 in 2007, $81,530,000
in 2006 and $62,149,000 in 2005. Of these amounts, $55,245,000 in 2007, $52,939,000 in 2006, and $36,829,000 in
2005 are classified as research and development expenses, with the remainder, relating to quality, engineering and
manufacturing support, classified as cost of sales.

Severance and Other Expenses

During the third quarter of 2007, we recorded charges of $8,728,000 comprised of severance expenses for approximately
500 positions eliminated during the quarter and the write-off of design costs for a cancelled facility expansion. The workforce
reduction resulted in a charge for severance expenses of $6,151,000 which was fully paid in 2007. The positions eliminated
included manufacturing and manufacturing support, administrative and development positions atall plant sites. The write-off of
design costs for the cancelled facility expansion amounted to $2,577,000.

Dispute Settlement

During the third quarter of 2006, we recorded an increase to operating income of $5,000,000 as a result of the resolution
of a dispute with a former supplier.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance with Statement of Financiat Accounting Standards No. 109, “Accounting for
Income Taxes” As part of the process of preparing our consolidated financial statements, we are required to estimate our
income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate. This process involves estimating our current tax exposure together
with assessing temporary differences resutting from differing treatment of items for tax and accounting purposes. These
temporary differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities, which are included within our consolidated balance sheet. We
must then assess the likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be realized based on future taxable income, and to the extent
we believe that recovery is not likely, we must establish a valuation allowance. To the extent we establish a valuation allowance
or change this allowance in a period, we must include an expense or a benefit within the tax provision in our statement of
operations.

Significant judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes, our deferred tax assets and liabilities and
any valuation allowance recorded against our deferred tax assets. Valuation allowances arise due to the uncertainty of realizing
the benefits of certain tax credits and net operating loss (*NOL") camyforwards before they expire, and are based on our
historical taxable income and our estimates of future taxable income in each jurisdiction in which we operate. At September 30,
2007 and September 24, 2006 we had valuation allowances of $6,827,000 and $5,267,000, respectively, related primarily
1o certain tax credits and the uncertainty of realizing these benefits before they expire due to certain limitations. We will continue
to assess the likelihood that the deferred tax assets will be realizable, and the valuation allowance will be adjusted accordingly,
which could materially impact our financial position and results of operations.
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Earnings per Share

Basic eamings per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted-average number of common shares
outstanding during the year. Diluted eamings per share is computed (i) in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 128, “Eamings per Share,” using the treasury stock method for outstanding stock options and the if-converted
method for the $150,000,000 aggregate principal amount of the 2.25% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2010 (the
“2.25% Notes™}, and (i) in accordance with Emerging lssues Task Force Issue No. 04-8, “The Effect of Contingently Convertible
Instruments on Diluted Eamings per Share, for the $225,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 3.25% Convertible
Subordinated Notes due 2026 (the “3.25% Notes™} and is calculated to compute the ditutive effect of patential common
shares using net income available to common shareholders. A reconciliation of these amounts is as follows:

2007 2006 2005
NELiNCOME . ...ttt et i e e e e $ 7,265 $20,476 $54,881
Plus: Interest expense on convertible subordinated notes . . .......... - 4,034 4,034
Less: Additional profit-sharing expense and income tax provisions . . .. .. — {914) {1,094)
Net income available to common shareholders . . ................. $ 7265 $23596 §$57,821
Weighted-average common shares outstanding .. ................. 25,988 25,611 25,226
Dilutive potential common shares . . . .............coiiuvin.nn 53 5,204 5,553
Weighted-average common and diluted shares outstanding. .. ........ 26,041 30,815 30,779
Basic eamings pershare .. ... ... ..iiii e $ 028 $ 08B0 § 218
Diluted eamings pershare . . . . ..., .ot itirnn e $ 028 $ 077 % 1.88

Diluted eamings per share for 2007 excludes potential common shares of 2,340,000 using the treasury stock method
and potential commen shares of 5,027,000 using the if-converted method for the 2.25% Notes, as they were antidilutive.
Diluted eamings per share for 2006 excludes potential common shares of 1,322,000 using the treasury stock method, as they
were antidilutive. Diluted earnings per share for 2005 excludes potentiat common shares of 20,000 using the treasury stock
methad, as they were antidilutive.

2. Financing Arrangements

Long-Term Debt
2007 2006
325K NOtES ... e e e e $225,000 $225,000
g T 150,000 150,000
Eau Claire building mortgage .. ... ...t i i 5,288 6,543
Total debt. . . oo e e e 380,288 381,543
Less: Cument matumties . ... ... ..o i e e e e (1,344) (1,252)

$378,944  $380,291

In January 2006, we issued $225,000,000 aggregate principal amount of the 3.25% Notes. The 3.26% Notes were
issued pursuant to an Indenture dated as of January 25, 2006 (the “Indenture™) between us and LaSalle Bank National
Assaciation, as trustee. Interest on the 3.25% Notes is payable on January 15 and July 15 of each year, beginning on July 15,
2008.

We have the right to redeem for cash all or a portion of the 3.25% Notes on or after January 21, 2011 at specified
redemption prices, as provided in the Indenture, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the applicable
redemption date. Holders of the 3.25% Notes may require us to purchase all or a portion of their 3.25% Notes for cash on
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January 15, 2013, January 15, 2016 and January 15, 2021, or in the event of a fundamental change, at a purchase price
equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 3.25% Notes to be repurchased plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but
excluding, the purchase date.

Under certain circumstances, holders of the 3.25% Notes may convert their 3.25% Notes based on a conversion rate of
27.4499 shares of our cammon stock per $1,000 principal amount of 3.25% Notes {which is equal to an initial conversion
price of approximately $36.43 per share), subject to adjustment. Upon conversion, in lieu of shares of our commaon stock, for
each $1,000 principal amount of 3.25% Notes a holder will receive an amount in cash equal to the lesser of (i) $1,000, or
(ii) the conversion value, determined in the manner set forth in the Indenture, of the number of shares of our common stock
equal to the conversion rate. If the conversion value exceeds $1,000, we also will deliver, at our election, cash or common stock
or a combination of cash and commaon stock with respect to the remaining common stock deliverable upon conversion. If a
holder elects to convert his, her or its 3.25% Notes in connection with a fundamental change that occurs prior to January 21,
2011, we will pay, to the extent described in the Indenture, a make-whole premium by increasing the conversion rate applicable
to such 3.25% Notes.

In February 2003, we issued and sold $150,000,000 aggregate principal amount of the 2.25% Notes with interest
payable semi-annually commencing September 15, 2003 to Salomon Smith Bamey Inc. and Needham & Company, Inc., which
resold the 2.25% Netes to qualified institutional buyers and outside the United States in accordance with Regulation S under
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act"). We used the net proceeds of $145,405,000 from the issuance
and sale of the 2.25% Notes primarily to redeem $132,529,000 in principal amount of our §% Convertible Subordinated Notes
due 2005 (the “6% Notes™, with the remaining proceeds used for general corporate purpases. in connection with the issuance
and sale of the 2.25% Notes, we incurred and capitalized debt issuance costs of $4,595,000, which are being amortized over
the term of the 2.25% Notes. Beginning in the third quarter of 2003, the redemption of the 6% Notes, combined with the
issuance and sale of the 2.25% Notes, has reduced our interest expense by $1,140,000 per quarter.

The 2.25% Notes are convertible, at the option of the haider, into our common stock at any time prior to their stated
maturity, unless previously redeemed or repurchased, at a conversion price of $29.84 per share. Beginning March 20, 2008,
the 2.25% Notes are redeemable, in whole or in part, at our option at 100.64% of their principal amount, and thereafter at
prices declining to 100% on March 15, 2010. In addition, upon the occurrence of certain events, each hotder of the
2.25% Notes may require us to repurchase all or a portion of such holder's 2.25% Notes at a purchase price equal to 100% of
the principal amount thereof, together with accrued and unpaid interest and liquidated damages, if any, for the period to, but
excluding, the date of the repurchase.

The 2.25% Notes were issued by us and were sold in transactions exempt from registration under the Securities Act. We
filed a registration statement registering the 2.25% Notes and the shares of common stock into which the 2.25% Notes are
convertible.

During the first quarter of 2006, we purchased the assembly manufacturing building (which we previously had leased),
together with related equipment, at our manufacturing site in Eau Claire, Wisconsin for $12,924,000, including $5,069,000
paid in cash and the remainder paid by our assumption of a morigage with a 7.15% interest rate that matures in April 2011.

Certain of our existing financing agreements contain financial covenants, as well as covenants which, among other things,
restrict our ability to pay dividends to our shareholders and may restrict our ability to enter into certain types of financing. As of
September 30, 2007, we were in compliance with all covenants in our financing agreements. If, however, we are not in
compliance with the covenants in our financing agreements at the end of any future quarter and cannot obtain amendments on
acceptable terms, our future financia! results and liquidity could be materially adversely affected.

51




3

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Hutchinson Technology incorporated and Subsidiaries — (Continued)

Maturities of long-term debt subsequent to September 30, 2007 are as follows:

2008 L e e e e e e $ 1,344
2000 L e e e 1,444
2000 e e e e e e e 151,551
200 L e e e 949
200 e e e -
TherEal ey, . . o e e e e 235,000

$380,288

Income Taxes

The provision (benefit) for income taxes consists of the following:

2007 2006 2005
Current:
Federal. .. ... i e $ 4027 $1465 § 1,834
StAle .. e e 922 (172) (4,634)
Defarred . . e e e e (21,847) 2113 15,701

$(16,898) $3.406 $12,901

The deferred provision (benefit) is composed of the following:

2007 2006 2005
Asset bases, lives and depreciation methods. . .................. $ (7,818) $(9,078) $(7,020)
Reserves and accruats not currently dedugtible .. ................ (1,816) (2,206) 2,996
Tax credits and NOL cammyforwards . ... ... ... ... ... ... ..... (13,773) 13,175 20,446
Valuation allowance . ............ it 1,560 222 (721)

$(21,847) $ 2,113 $15701

A reconciliation of the federal statutory tax rate to the effective tax rate is as follows:
2007 2006 2005

Statutory federal income taxrate ......... e e e {(34Y% 35% 35%
Effect of:
State income taxes, net of federal income tax benefits. .. ................ {2} - (2)
Tax benefits of the Foreign Sales Corporation/Extratenitorial Income Exclusion. .. (11) (21) {(10)
Valuation aliowance on NOL camyforwards and/or use of tax credits. . . ... .. .. {119) L (€]
Other permanent differences . . .. . .ot e it e 4 1 -
Otheradjustments . . ... . . e e e _{13) - —

(175)% 14%  19%
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The following table shows the significant components of our deferred tax assets:

2007 2006
Current deferred tax assets:
Receivable allowance. . . ..o vttt e e $ 152 § 592
IVEMEORES . e e 4,857 3,722
Accruals and other IBSBIVES . . . . .. ittt it i ittt 3,573 3,707
Total current deferred tax assets . ......... ... o i it 8,082 8,021
Long-term deferred tax assets:
Property, plant and equipment ... ... ... i s 36,678 28,860
Defermed INCOME . . .ttt i ettt et e 2,428 1317
Q£ [ 35,485 19,957
Net aperating loss camforwards . . ... - o oo e e, 11,244 13,000
Valuation allowance . . . . ... .. o e e s (6,827) {5,267)
Total long-term deferred tax assets. . .............. oo i 79,008 57,867
Total defermred 1aX 85818 . . .. ...\ i e e e $87,590  $65,888

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the camying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting pumoses and the amounts used for income tax purposes. At September 30, 2007, our deferred
tax assets included $35,485,000 of unused tax credits, of which $5,731,000 can be camied forward indefinitely and
$29,754,000 expire at various dates beginning in 2009. The increase in our research and development tax creditincreased our
tax credits by $12,040,000 from 2006 to 2007. At September 30, 2007, our balance sheet included $11,244,000 of
deferred tax assets related to NOL camyforwards that will begin to expire in 2018, As of September 30, 2007, we had an
estimated NOL camyforward of approximately $27,253,000 for U.S. federal tax return purposes. A valuation allowance of
$6,827,000 has been recognized to offset the related deferred tax assets due to the uncertainty of realizing the benefits of
certain tax credits and NOL carryforwards before they expire. The increase in the altowance from 2006 to 2007 is due to an
increase of $4,500,000 from the analysis of expected federal and state credit utilization and expected state NOL utilization,
partially offset by $3,945,000 from the release of certain valuation allowances due to a favorable Intemal Revenue Service
private letter ruling. “Other Adjustments;” in the table above, relates to adjustments to prior year deferred taxes and state tax
credits.

4. Falr Value of Financlal Instruments

The financial instruments that we hold are primarily of a traditionat nature. For most instruments, including receivables,
accounts payable and accrued expenses, we believe that the camrying amounts approximate fair value because of their short-
term nature. The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instuments
for which it is practicable to estimate that value:
Cash and Cash Equivalents

The fair value is based on quoted market prices.

Securitles Avaliable for Sale

The fair value is based on quoted market prices.
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Long-Term Debt

The fair vatues of our 3.25% Notes and 2.25% Notes are estimated based on the closing market price of the respective
Notes as of the end of the fiscal year. The estimated fair values of our financial instruments are as follows:

2007 2006

Carrying Carrying

Amount Falr Value Amount Fair Valug
Cash and cash equivalents . .. ................. $ 64509 $ 64509 §$ 40,331 $ 40,331
Securities available forsale. . .................. 233,043 233,043 250,110 250,110
2 5% NOES, . e e 150,000 147,465 150,000 140,103
325% Notes. ... .. e 225,000 202,781 225,000 211,388
Eau Claire building mortgage. . . . ............... 5,288 5,288 6,543 6,543

5. Employee Benefits

We have an employee stock purchase plan that provides for the sale of our common stock at discounted purchase prices.
The cost per share under this plan is 85% of the lesser of the fair market value of our common stock on the first or last day of the
purchase period, as defined. In accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123(R), effective September 26, 2005, the discount
associated with this plan has been recorded as compensation expense.

Stock Options

As of September 30, 2007, we had two stock option plans under which up to 8,000,000 common shares are reserved for
issuance, of which options representing 7,686,400 common shares had been granted. Under both plans, options may be
granted to any employee, including our officers, and to our non-employee directors, and have been granted with an exercise
price equal to the closing sale price of a share of our common stock on the NASDAQ Global Select Market on the trading date
immediately prior to the date the options were granted. Options under one plan are no longer granted because the maximum
number of shares available for option grants under that plan has been reached. Under the other plan, options also may be
granted to certain non-employees at a price not less than the closing sale price of a share of our common stock on the NASDAQ
Global Select Market on the trading date immediately prior to the date the options were granted. Options generally expire ten
years from the date of grant or at an earlier date as determined by the committee of our Board of Directors that administers the
plans. Options granted under the plans before November 2005 generally became exercisable in full one year from the date of
grant, and options granted since November 2005 generally become exercisable as to 50% of the shares on each of the second
and third anniversaries of the date of grant.

We recorded stock-based compensation expense, included in selfing, general and administrative expenses, of
$4,784,000 and $3,694,000 for 2007 and 2006, respectively. In accordance with SFAS 123(R), there was no tax benefit
from recording this non-cash expense. In accordance with the modified-prospective transition method permitted by
SFAS 123(R), results for prior periods have not been restated.

As of September 30, 2007, $7,293,000 of unrecognized compensation costs related to non-vested awards is expected
to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately twenty months.
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Prior to adopting SFAS 123(R), we accounted for stock-based compensation under Accounting Principles Board Opinion
No. 25. The following table illustrates the effect on net income and eamings per share if the fair value based method had been
applied to the fiscal year ended September 25, 2005;

2005

Net income:

T3 (=014 4 -« O $54,881

Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair value

based method for all awards, net of related income tax and profit sharing effects ... ... (4,014)

(TR {01 117 T OO $50,867
Net income per common and common equivalent share:
Basic earnings per share:

3 T 1 =T $ 218

(22307 35T GNP $ 202
Diluted eamings per share:

L =T 1412 o R U U $ 188

(o0 191117 U $ 175

We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the weighted-average fair value of options. The weighted-
average fair value of options granted during 2007 and 2006 was $12.86 and $14.92, respectively. The fair value of options at
the date of grant and the weighted-average assumptions utilized to determine such values are indicated in the following table:

2007 2008
Risk-free MBIt TALE. . . . ittt e e e e 4.7% 4.5%
Expected volatility ... .. s 45% 45%
Expected life (inyears). . ... .. oo e e 7.7 7.4

Dividend yield. . . ... .o e - -

The risk-free interest rate is based on a treasury instrument whose term is consistent with the expected life of our stock
options. We considered historical data in projecting expected stock price volatility. We estimated the expected life of stock
options and stock option forfeitures based on historical experience.

Option transactions during 2007 are summarnzed in the following table:

Welghted-Average
Remaining
Number of Weighted-Average Contractual
Shares Exerclse Price(5) Ufe{yrs.)
Outstanding at September 24, 2006. ................ 3,109,546 25.08 53
Granted. ... ... s 539,600 23.01
Exercised . . . .. .. e (275,910 17.41
EXpIred . . .. (110,769} 28.70
Outstanding at September 30, 2007. . ............... 3,262,467 2527 5.4
Vested or expected to vest at September 30, 2007 ... ... 3,253,873 2527 5.4
Options exercisable at September 30,2007 ........... 2,313,696 25.36 4.1

The aggregate intrinsic value at year-end of our stock options (the amount by which the market price of the stock on the
date of exercise exceeded the exercise price of the option) outstanding for 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $5,265,000,
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$2,845,000 and $10,847,000, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value at year-end of our stock options exercisable for
2007, 2006 and 2005 was $4,434,000, $2,845,000 and $10,847,000, respectively.

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at September 30, 2007:

Options Outstanding Options Exerclsable
Welghted-Average
Rangs of Remalning Welghted-Average Weighted-Average
Exercise Prices ($) Number Quistanding Contractual Lifo(yrs.) Exerclse Price(S) Number Exerclsable Exercise Price(5)
14.81-2000....... 603,080 26 18.86 603,080 18.86
20.01-2500....... 1,409,379 5.8 23.39 887,117 23.61
25.01-30.00....... 591,173 6.2 28.07 167,664 29.58
30.01-4506....... 658,835 6.6 32.63 655,835 32.64
Total............. 3,262,467 5.4 25.27 2,313,696 25.36

Employee Benefit Plans

We have a defined contribution plan covering our empleyees. Our contributions to the plan were $10,663,000 in 2007,
$9,836,000 in 2006 and $8,894,000 in 2005,

We spensor a self-insured comprehensive medical and dental plan for qualified employees that is funded by contributions
from plan participants and from us. Contributions are made through a Voluntary Employee’s Benefit Association Trust, We
recognized expense related to these plans of $27,401,000 in 2007, $23,455,000 in 2006 and $17,185,000 in 2005.
6. Commitments and Contingencles

Operating Leases

We are committed under various operating lease agreements. Total rent expense under these operating leases was
$15,400,000 in 2007, $14,138,000 in 2006 and $10,214,000 in 20065.

Future minimum payments for all operating leases with initial or remaining terms of one year or more subsequent to
September 30, 2007 are as follows:

Operating

Leases
2008 . e e e e $12,457
0 6,659
2000 L e e e e 3,212
2000 e e e e 1,409
2002 L e e e e 846
Q10 £ P 1,326
Total minimum lease PaymMemtS. . . ..ottt e e $25,909

Legal Praceedings

Securities Litigation.  Our company and six of our present executive officers, two of whom are directors, were named as
defendants in a consolidated complaint filed by several investors in the U.S. District Court for the District of Minnesota on May 1,
2006. The conselidated complaint purported to be brought on behalf of a class of all persans (except defendants} who
purchased our stock in the open market between October 4, 2004 and August 29, 2005 (the “class period”). The consolidated
complaint alleged that the defendants made false and misleading public statements about our company, and our business and
prospects, in press releases and SEC filings during the class period, and that the market price of our stock was artificially
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inflated as a result. The consolidated complaint alleges claims under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act. The
consolidated complaint sought compensatory damages on behalf of the alleged class in an unspecified amount, interest, an
award of attomeys’ fees and costs of litigation, and unspecified equitable/injunctive relief.

Defendants moved to dismiss the consolidated complaint. By Memorandum Opinion and Order filed on June 4, 2007, the
District Court granted defendants’ motion and dismissed the consolidated comptaint with prejudice. Piaintiffs appealed the
dismissal to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit, and the appeal remains pending. We do not know when the Court of
Appeals will decide the appeal, or how it might rule.

We believe that we, and the other defendants, have meritorious defenses to the claims made in the consolidated
complaint, and we intend to contest the lawsuit vigorously. We are not able to predict the ultimate cutcome of this litigation, but
it may be costly and disruptive. The total costs cannot be reasonably estimated at this time. Securities class action litigation can
result in substantial costs and divert our management's attention and resources, which may have a material adverse effect on
our business and results of operations, including our cash flows.

Other Litigation and Proceedings. Qur company was named as the defendant in a complaint brought in Hennepin
County, Minnesota, District Court by two current and three former employees and served on us on August 28, 2006. On behalf
of a class of current and former non-exempt production workers employed by us in Minnesota, the complaint asserts claims
based on the federal Fair Labor Standards Act, several statutes and regulations dealing with topics related to wages and breaks,
and common law theories, and alleges that we fail to pay our production warkers for the time they spend changing into and out
of protective clothing and that we do not provide employees the breaks allegedly required by Minnesota law or promised by
company policy. On September 18, 2006, we removed the action to the U.S. District Court for the District of Minnesota. The
complaint seeks pay for the allegedly unpaid time, an equal amount of liquidated damages, other damages, penalties,
attorneys’ fees and interest. The parties have agreed to engage in mediation now scheduled for December 4 and 5, 2007. We
are not able to predict the ultimate outcome of the litigation but it may be costly and disruptive.

We were informed on May 2, 2007 that the SEC has opened an investigation into possible federal securities law violations
by our company, our officers, directors, employees and others, during 2005 and 2006. The investigation includes the matters
alleged in the federal securities class action litigation described above. We do not know when or how the investigation might be
concluded. We are not able to predict the ultimate ocutcome of the securities class action litigation or the SEC investigation. Itis
possible that these matters could be resolved adversely to us, could result in substantial costs and could divert management’s
attention and resources, which could harm our business.

We and certain users of our products have from time to time received, and may in the future receive, communications from
third parties asserting patents against us or our customers which may relate to certain of our manufacturing equipment or
products or to products that include our products as a component. In addition, certain of our customers have been sued on
patents having claims closely related to products sold by us. If any third party makes a valid infringement claim and a license
were not available on terms acceptable to us, our operating results could be adversely affected. We expect that, as the number
of patents issued continues to increase, and as we grow, the volume of intellectual property claims could increase. We may
need to engage in litigation to enforce patents issued or licensed to us, protect trade secrets or know-how owned by us or
determine the enforceability, scope and validity of the intellectual property rights of others. We could incur substantial costs in
such litigation or other similar legal actions, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

We are a party to certain claims arising in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of cur management, the outcome
of such claims will not materially affect our current or future financial position or results of operations.
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1. Supplementary Cash Flow Informatlon

2007 2006 2005
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Receivables, net . .. ... .. ... . .. e $(12,726) $(13,600) $(19,885)
INVENtOMES . . .ot ittt e 20,115 (26,518)  (19,461)
Otherassets . ... ... .. i e {4,785) (1,713} 2,800
Accounts payable and accrued expenses. .. ... ... i {10,689} 6,082 22,054
Other long-term liabilities .. ........... ... ... .. .. ....... (736) 810 {195)

$ (8,821) $(34,939) ${(14,657)

Cash paid for:

Interest {net of amount capitalized) ........ ... v, $ 8668 $ 4015 §$ 1,703

INEOMETAXES. . . . . ottt e e 641 631 1,290
Non-cash investing activities:

Capital expenditures in accounts payable . .................. 5,231 7,365 27,826

Capitalized interest was $2,577,000 in 2007, $2,824,000 in 2006 and $1,944,000 in 2005. Interest is capitalized
using an overall borrowing rate for assets that are being constructed or otherwise produced for our own use. Interest capitalized
during 2007 was primarily for increases in both TSA suspension and TSA+ suspension preduction capacity, process technology
and capability improvements, facility construction, new business systems and new program tooling,

During the first quarter of 2006, we purchased the assembly manufacturing building (which we previously had leased) at
our Eau Claire, Wisconsin manufacturing site, together with related equipment, for $12,924,000, which included the
assumption of a morigage by us.

Purchase price of building and related equipment. . ... ... ... .. . .. i e, $12,924
Cash paid for building and related equipment . ......... ... ... ... i, (5,069)
Mortgage assumed . .. ... .. . i e $ 7,855

At September 30, 2007, the morigage balance totaled $5,288,000.

8. Other Assets

During the second quarter of 2002, we prepaid $26,000,000 related to a technology and development agreement. As of
September 30, 2007, the unamortized portion of the prepayment was $8,097,000, of which $3,407,000 was included In
“Other current assets” and $4,690,000 was included in “Other assets” on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. The
unameortized portion will be amartized over the remaining term of the agreement, which ends in 2010.

9. Shareholders’ Equity
Stock Repurchase Program

In July 2004, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to two million shares of our common stock from time
to time in the open market or through privately negotiated transactions, subject to market conditions, share price and other
factors. In 2004, we repurchased a total of 1,722,500 shares for a total cost of $39,252,000. The average price paid per share
was $22.75. In 2005, we repurchased a total of 206,000 shares for a total cost of $5,747,000. The average price paid per
share was $27.86. In 2006, we repurchased the remaining authorized amount of 71,500 shares for a tota! cost of
$1,299,000. The average price paid per share was $18.13.
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10. Share Rights Plan

In tuly 2000, our Board of Directors declared a dividend of one common share purchase right on each outstanding share
of common stock held by shareholders of record as of the close of business on August 10, 2000. Under certain conditions,
each right may be exercised to purchase one-tenth of a share of common stock at an exercise price of $10, subject to
adjustment. The rights generally will become exercisable after any person or group acquires beneficial ownership of 15% or
more of our common stock or announces a tender or exchange offer that would result in that person or group beneficially owning
15% or more of our commaon stock. If any person or group becomes a beneficial owner of 15% or more of our common stock,
each right will entitle its holder {other than the 15% owner) to purchase, at an adjusted exercise price equal to ten times the
previous purchase price, shares of our common stock having a value of twice the right's adjusted exercise price.

The rights, which do not have voting rights, expire in 2010 and may be redeemed by us at a price of $0.001 per right,
subject to adjustment, at any time prior to their expiration or a person's or group’s acquisition of beneficial ownership of at least
15% of our common stock. in certain circumstances, at the option of our Board of Directors, we may exchange the rights for
shares of our common stock, delay or temporarily suspend the exercisability of the rights or reduce the stock-ownership
threshold of 15% to not less than 10%.

In the event that we are acquired in certain merger or other business-combination transactions, or sell 50% or more of our
assets or eamings power, each holder of a right shall have the right to receive, at the right's adjusted exercise price, common
shares of the acquiring company having a market value of twice the right's adjusted exercise price.

11. Segment Reporting

We follow the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an
Enterprise and Related Information” (“FAS 1317). FAS 131 establishes annual and interim reporting standards for an
enterprise’s business segments and related disclosures about each segment’s products, services, geographic areas and major
customers. The method for determining what information to report is based on the way management organizes the operating
segments within a company for making operating decisions and assessing financial performance. Our Chief Executive Officer is
considered to be our chief operating decision maker,

We have determined that we have two reportable segments; the Disk Drive Components Division and the BioMeasurement
Division. The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting
policies.

The following table represents net sales by product for each reportable segment.

2007 2006 2005
Net sales:
Disk Drive Components Division
Suspension assemblies . ..... .. ... . ... ... e, $691,790 $682,163 $608,809
Other products . .......... .. e iiie e 23,800 38,980 2,304
Total Disk Drive Components Division. ... .. .. .. .. .. ... . ... 715,590 721,143 631,113
BioMeasurement Division . . . . ... ... ... .. . 513 364 468

$716,103  $721,507  $631,581
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The following table represents operating income (loss) for each reportable segment.

2007 2006 2005
Income (loss) from operations:
Disk Drive Components Division ... ... ..ot i $ (1,001) $27534 $66,069
BioMeasurement Division . . ... ....... .t . (17,584) (14,764) (8,688)

$(18,675) $12,770 $57,381

Assets of the BioMeasurement Division are not relevant for management of the BioMeasurement Division segment or
significant for disclosure.

Sales to foreign locations were as follows:

2007 2006 2005
Foreign-based enterprises. . .. ... $356,141 $434,979  $387,512
Foreign subsidiaries of U.S, comporations. .. .................. 328,743 233,860 198,805

$684,884 $668,839  $586,417

The majority of these foreign location sales were to the Pacific Rim region. In addition, we had significant sales to
U.S. comporations that used our products in their offshore manufacturing sites.

Revenue assigned based on product shipment location and long-lived assets by geographic area are as follows:

2007 2006 2005
Revenue:
Thailand . .. ... e $346,608 $264,705 $219,078
HongKang . . .. ..o 206,892 200,331 182,020
Japan. ... 106,374 187,104 180,090
United States ....... ... i 31,219 52,668 45,164
China. . ... e 24,473 16,420 4,901
Other foreign countries . . . .. ........ ... ... ... .. ..... .. 537 279 328

$716,103 §721,507 $631,581

Long-lived assets:
United States .. ... ... ittt e e $456,099  $471,532  $349,935
Other foreign countries . . .. ... ... ... ... ..., .. .. ..., 1,784 631 585

$457,883  $472,163  $350,520

Sales to customers in excess of 10% of net sales are as follows:

2007 2006 2005

SAE Magnetics, Ltd./TDK . . .. .. e e 29% 28% 29%
Seagate Technology LLC . . ... ... e e 26 15 8
Western Digital Comporation. .. .. ... ... o e 20 15 19
Alps Electric Co., LId. ... ... i e e 8 20 22
INOVEX, INC. . . e e e 4 8 11
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12. Other Matters

The American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (“AJCA") was signed into law on October 22, 2004. The AICA contains two
provisions that affect us. The first provision is the repeal of the Extratemitorial Income Exclusion Act of 2000 provisions, which
were phased out on a calendar-year basis with the benefit ending December 31, 20086.

The second provision of the AJCA that affects us is the introduction of a deduction for a percentage of income from
domestic production activities. The deduction is limited in any fiscal year in which a taxpayer uses NOL camyforwards. For 2007,
we will not realize any benefit from this deduction, as we will use NOL camyforwards. The deduction is phased in on a calendar-
year basis and will be fully phased in for our fiscal year ending September 25, 2011.

13. Summary of Quarterly Information (uraudited)

The following table summarizes unaudited financial data for 2007 and 2006.

2007 by Quarter 2006 by Quarter'?!
First Second Third Fourth First Second Third Fourth

Netsales ............... $188,882 $170,681 $156,686 $199,854 $184,560 $186,395 $169,979 $180,573
Gross profit. . . ........... 35610 290961 20979 35691 39,600 41964 32481 30,845
Income from operations . . . . . . 1,984 (5.250) (21,369 5,960 4,340 7,250 3,322 (2,142)
Income before income taxes . . . 5,174 (2,048)  (19,579) 7,720 7,156 9,703 6,055 968
Netincome. ............. 5,813 (3,646) (13,480) 18,578 5990 8,269 6,196 21
Net income per share:

Basic................ 0.22 {0.14) (0.52) 0.71 0.24 0.32 0.24 0.00

Dituted . . ............. 0.22 (0.14) {0.52) 0.62 0.22 0.29 0.23 0.00
Price range per share:

High, ..o 24.40 24.02 23.82 25.15 28.84 31.08 3053 22.20

oW ..o 20.99 20.63 18.00 18.35 24.00 25.93 20.96 17.69

The price range per share, reflected above, is the highest and lowest bids as quoted on the NASDAQ Giobal Select Market
during each quarter.

M Effective September 26, 2005, we elected early application of SAB 108. In accordance with SAB 108, we reduced our
opening retained eamings for 2006 by $1,952,000, net of tax of $1,126,000, and adjusted our financial results for the
first three quarters of 2006 as shown in the tables in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, as well as in the
above table. We consider these adjustments to be immaterial to prior periods.

{2

—

During the third quarter of 2006, we recorded an increase to operating income of $5,000,000 as a result of the resolution
of a dispute with a former supplier.

-

B} Buring the third quarter of 2007, we recorded charges of $8,728,000 comprised of severance expenses for approximately

500 positions eliminated during the quarter and the write-off of design costs for a cancelled facility expansion. The
workforce reduction resulted in a charge for severance expenses of $6,151,000 which was fully paid in 2007. The positions
gliminated included manufacturing and manufacturing support, administrative and development positions at all plant sites.
The write-off of design costs for the cancelled facility expansion amounted to $2,577,000.

The fourth quarter of 2007 income tax benefit includes reductions for discrete items, including a benefit of $8,108,000 for
the completion of a research and development tax credit study which identified additiona! qualified research expenditures
from prior years, $3,945,000 from a favorable Intemal Revenue Service private letter ruling resulting in the release of
certain valuation allowances and a benefit from the reinstatement of the federal research and development tax credit
retroactive to January 1, 20086,

(4

-
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INDEPENDENT REPORT OF REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Hutchinson Technology incorporated:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated batance sheets of Hutchinson Technology Incorporated and subsidiaries
(the “Company™) as of September 30, 2007 and September 24, 2006, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
shareholders’ investment, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended September 30, 2007. Our audits also
included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at ltem 15(a)2. These financial statements and financial
statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board {United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company as of September 30, 2007 and September 24, 20086, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each
of the three years in the pericd ended September 30, 2007, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. Also, in our opinion, such financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic
consclidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
{United States), the Company's intemal controi over financial reporting as of September 30, 2007, based on the criteria
established in Intemnal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission, and our report dated November 28, 2007, expressed an adverse opinion on the Company’s intemal contro! over
financial reporting because of a material weakness.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consofidated financial statements, effective September 26, 2005, the Company changed
its approach for quantifying and evaluating the materiality of unrecorded misstatements by adopting Securities and Exchange
Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108. As discussed in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements, effective
September 26, 2005, the Company changed its method of accounting for share-based compensation by adopting Statement
of Financial Accounting Standard No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
November 28, 2007
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SCHEDULE Il — VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Hutchinson Technotogy Incorporated and Subsidiaries

Additions

Balance at Charged Other Balanco at
Beginning of to Costs and Changes Add End of
Period Bxpenses {Deduct) Perlod
{in thousands)
2005;
Allowance for doubtful accounts receivable .............. $ 683 $ (64) $ (3™ $ 616
Reserve for sales retums and allowances. .. ............. 779 1,696 {1,879y 596
$1,462 $1,632 $(1,882) $1,212
2006:
Allowance for doubtful accounts receivable . ............. $ 616 $ (63) $ - $ 553
Reserve for sales retums and allowances. ............... 596 6,760 (6,201)¥ 1,065
$1,212 $6,697 $(6,291) $1,618
2007:
Allowance for doubtful accounts receivable . ............. $ 553 $ (482) $ (652" $ 19
Reserve for sales retums and allowances. . .............. 1,065 1,523 (2,191)@ 397

$1,618 $1,041 $(2,243) $ 416

M Uncollectible accounts receivable written off, net of recoveries.
2) Retums honored and credit memos issued.
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Corporate Headquarters
Hutchinson Technology Inc.

40 West Highland Park Drive NE
Hutchinson, Minnesota
55350-9784

{320) 587-3797

Other U.S. Locations
Eau Claire, Wisconsin
Plymouth, Minnesota
Sioux Falls, South Dakota

Foreign Offices
Arnhem, Netherlands
Bangkok, Thailand
Chang An,

Guangdong Province, PRC
Dongguan City,

Guangdong Province, PRC
Seoul, South Korea
Singapore
Takyo, Japan
Wuxi, Jiangsu Province, PRC

Annual Shareholders Meeting
Wednesday, January 30, 2008
10:00 a.m. Central Standard Time
Hutchinson Technology Inc.

40 West Hightand Park Drive NE
Hutchinson, Minnesota
55350-9784

Common Stock Listing
Listed on the NASDAQ
Global Select Market
Trading symbol; HTCH

Dividend Policy

We have never paid any cash
dividends on our commaon stock.
We currently intend to retain all
earnings for use in our business
and do not anticipate paying cash
dividends in the fereseeable future,
Any future determination as io
payment of dividends will depend
upen our financiat condition and
results of operations and such
other factors as are deemed rele-
vant by the Board of Direciors.

Transfer Agent

Welis Fargo Bank, N.A.
Shareowner Services

161 North Concord Exchange
Sauth St. Paul, Mirnnesota
55075-1139

(800) 468-9716

Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm
Deloitte & Touche LLP
Minneapolis, Minresota

Legal Counsel
Faegre & Benson LLP
Minneapolis, Minnesota

Supplemental Information
Charles Ives,

Investor Relations Manager
Hutchinsen Technology Inc.

40 Wesl Highland Park Drive NE
Hutchinson, Minnesota
55350-9784

(800) 689-0755
HTLinvestor.Relations@hti.htch.com

information Online

We invite you to Jearn more
about Hutchinson Technology nc.
at www.htch.com and
www.htibiomeasurement.com

Hutchinson
TECHNOLOGY
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